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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
_______________________________________
Some of the statements contained in this report are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than historical facts are
“forward-looking statements” for purposes of these provisions, including any projections of earnings, revenues or other financial
terms, any statements of plans or objectives of management for future operations, any statements concerning proposed new
products or licensing or collaborative arrangements, any statements regarding future economic or performance, any statement
of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but
are not limited to statements regarding:
●

our ability to generate sales of Motorola brand products sufficient to make that portion of our business
profitable;

●

the impact of the recent tariff on most of the products we import from China;

●

the duration and impact of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic;

●

fluctuations in the level or quality of inventory;

●

the sufficiency of our capital resources and the availability of debt and equity financing;

●

potential costs and senior management distraction associated with patent-related legal proceedings;

●

our reliance on a limited number of customers for a large portion of our revenue;

●

the effect of changes in cable service providers’ policies of offering discounts when customers supply their own
modem;

●

product liability claims related to consumer grade home security and monitoring products could harm our
competitive position, results of operation and financial condition;

●

the effect of competing technologies and the potential decline in the demand for our products;

●

our reliance on sole-sourced manufacturers and component producers for a substantial percentage of our
products;

●

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates that may adversely affect our business;

●

capacity constraints in our Mexican operations could impact sales and hurt customer relationships;

●

our reliance on an outsourcing partner in Mexico;

●

our ability to succeed in the competitive broadband modem market;

●

the development of new competitive technologies, products and services to meet customer demand;

●

our ability to succeed in markets outside the US;

●

our ability to manage product returns;

●

our ability to produce sufficient quantities of quality products due to reliance on third party manufacturers;

●

the impact of long lead times for our products and the components used in our products;

●

the impact of competition on demand for our products and services;
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●

the impact of changes in environmental and other regulations on our ability to obtain necessary certifications
for our products and services;

●

changes in laws or governmental regulations and industry standards impacting our products;

●

our reliance on the continued service of key employees;

●

our ability to protect our intellectual property and to operate without infringing the intellectual property of
others;

●

the impact of state sales tax in some states where Amazon holds our inventory; and

•

our ability to retain the Motorola brand license for the Motorola brand products we produce.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "would," "expects,"
"plans," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "projects," "predicts," "potential" and similar expressions intended to identify forwardlooking statements. These statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that
may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels
of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Given these uncertainties, you
should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, these forward-looking statements represent our estimates
and assumptions only as of the date of this report. Except as otherwise required by law, we expressly disclaim any obligation or
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained in this report to reflect any change
in our expectations or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any of our forward-looking statements are based.
Factors that could cause or contribute to differences in our future financial results include those discussed in the risk factors set forth
in Item 1A below as well as those discussed elsewhere in this report. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary
statements.
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PART I
ITEM 1 – BUSINESS

Overview
As used in the Annual Report on Form 10-K, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” "Zoom” and the “Company” mean Zoom
Telephonics, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary MTRLC LLC.
Zoom Telephonics designs, produces, markets, sells, and supports Internet access and other communications-related products
including cable modems and gateways, mobile broadband modems, wireless routers, Multimedia over Coax (“MoCA”) adapters, Digital
Subscriber Line (“DSL”) modems, and dial-up modems. Our primary objective is to build upon our position as a leading producer of
Internet access devices sold through sales channels that include many of the largest United States (“USA” or “US”) high-volume
electronics retailers, and to take advantage of a number of trends in communications including higher data rates, increasing use of
wireless technology for transmission of data, and increasing use of smartphones, tablets, and streaming media.
Cable modem products, including both cable modems and cable gateways, were Zoom’s highest revenue product category in
2015 through 2019. Cable modems provide a high-bandwidth connection to the Internet through a cable that connects to the cable
service provider’s managed broadband network. When a cable modem also includes a built-in WiFi router, it is called a cable
modem/router or cable gateway. We began shipping cable modems in 2000. Our primary means of distribution to end-users in the US,
our primary market, is through national retailers and distributors. Beginning in 2016 we started offering cable modems and
modem/router “gateways” under the Motorola brand. In response to demand for faster connection speeds and increased functionality
including improved WiFi performance and faster Internet speeds, we have invested and continue to invest resources to advance our
cable modem product line.
Our mobile broadband products provide or use a cell-modem connection to the Internet, communicating through a mobile
service provider’s mobile broadband network. These products target both the consumer and machine-to-machine (“M2M”) markets.
Zoom has sold mobile broadband modems in the past and Zoom plans to continue to expand its line of mobile broadband products.
Our DSL modems provide a high-bandwidth connection to the Internet through a telephone line that typically connects to
compatible DSL equipment that is managed by the DSL service provider. In past years Zoom has shipped Asymmetrical DSL (“ADSL”)
modems. Zoom began shipping a DSL AC1600 modem/router with both Very high bit-rate DSL (“VDSL”) and ADSL capabilities
during the first half of 2018.
Our dial-up modems connect personal computers and other devices to the local telephone line for transmission of data, fax,
voice, and other information. Our dial-up modems enable personal computers and other devices to connect to other computers and
networks, including the Internet, at top data speeds up to 56,000 bits per second. Zoom’s sales of dial-up modems, our largest source
of revenues from the mid-eighties through 2010, have declined significantly and are expected to continue their decline due to the ongoing
adoption of broadband access.
In August 2016 we extended our Motorola license to a worldwide exclusive license that includes cable modems and gateways,
WiFi routers, WiFi range extenders, powerline communication devices, and related products. In August 2017 we further extended our
Motorola license to a worldwide exclusive license for DSL modems and gateways, cellular modems and gateways, and MoCA products,
and to a worldwide non-exclusive license for cellular sensors. We introduced under the Motorola brand two WiFi routers, one range
extender, and one MoCA Adapter in 2017. In 2018 we introduced into the retail market under the Motorola brand two WiFi routers and
a DSL modem/router. In March 2020 Zoom entered into an amendment to extend the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC
(the “2020 Amendment”) through December 31, 2025. The 2020 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola
trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide, including Service Provider Channels. In March 2020 we entered into a
License Agreement with Motorola to sell consumer grade home security and monitoring products and to provide related services. This
agreement applies to a wide range of products, including consumer grade cellular modems and gateways, DSL modems and gateways,
and MoCA (Multimedia over Coax) adapters for networking and home security products and services.
We are incorporated in Delaware under the name Zoom Telephonics, Inc. Zoom Telephonics, Inc. was originally incorporated
in New York in 1977 and changed its state of incorporation to Delaware in 1993. MTRLC LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Zoom
Telephonics, Inc., is a limited liability company organized in Delaware that focuses on the sale of our Motorola brand products. Our
principal executive offices are located at 225 Franklin Street, Boston, MA 02110, and our telephone number is (617) 423-1072. Our
Web site is at www.zoomtel.com. Information contained on our web site does not constitute part of this prospectus. Our common stock
is traded on the OTCQB Venture Market under the symbol ZMTP.
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Available Information
Our Internet website address is www.zoomtel.com. Through our website we make available, free of charge, our annual report
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. These SEC reports can be accessed through the
investor relations section of our website and at the SEC’s web site.

Products
General
The vast majority of our products involve communication of data through the Internet. Our cable modems connect to the cableTV cable and our DSL modems connect to the local telephone line to provide a high-speed link to the Internet. Our mobile broadband
modems and our coming mobile broadband routers and sensors connect to the Internet through a mobile service provider’s mobile
broadband cellular network. Our dial-up modems link computers, point-of-purchase terminals, or other devices to each other or the
Internet through the traditional telephone network. Our router products may communicate with a broadband modem for access to the
Internet, and they may also be used for local area network communications. Our planned sensor products will connect sensors to users’
smartphones and Web browsers via a mobile broadband connection to the Internet.
Cable Modems
We have obtained CableLabs® certification for our currently marketed cable modems, and these cable modems have also
received a number of cable service provider certifications. The lengthy, expensive, and technically challenging certification process has
been and continues to be a significant barrier to cable modem market entry.
Zoom sells cable modems to end-users through retailers and cable service providers. While sales through the retail channel
have been significant, they have been handicapped by the fact that all cable service providers offer cable modems directly with their
service. Zoom will continue its cable modem sales focus on retailers and plans to direct significant efforts toward selling to cable service
providers.
During 2015 Zoom’s cable modem revenues were primarily from four types of Zoom® brand cable modems, all supporting
Data Over Cable Service Interface Specification (“DOCSIS”) 3.0 with either 16 or 8 downstream channels and 4 upstream channels
(“16x4” or “8x4”). One product was an 8x4 cable modem bridge, one was a 16x4 cable modem bridge, one was an 8x4 cable modem
gateway that included an N300 wireless-N router, and one was an 8x4 cable modem gateway that included an 802.11ac (“wireless-AC”)
AC1900 router. Zoom continues to sell a small quantity of Zoom® brand cable modems, but Zoom’s primary cable modem sales from
2016 through 2019 were of Motorola brand cable modem products.
In May 2015, Zoom entered into an agreement to license certain Motorola trademarks from Motorola Trademark Holdings,
LLC (“Motorola”) for cable modem products. The agreement includes numerous requirements intended to assure the quality and
reputation of Motorola® brand products. In January 2016 Zoom, through its MTRLC LLC subsidiary, which was formed on October
6, 2015, began shipping cable modems under the Motorola® brand. In August 2016, Zoom entered into an amendment to the license
agreement with Motorola. The amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of
authorized channels worldwide and expands the license from cable modems and gateways to also include consumer routers, WiFi range
extenders, home powerline network adapters, and related products. In August 2017, we further extended our Motorola license to a
worldwide exclusive license for DSL modems and gateways, cellular modems and gateways, and MoCA products, and to a worldwide
non-exclusive license for cellular sensors. We introduced under the Motorola® brand three WiFi routers, one range extender, one
MoCA Adapter, and one DSL modem/router in 2017 and 2018. Zoom plans to extend this product line, adding mesh routers and range
extenders, cellular sensors, and new MoCA adapters. In March 2020 Zoom entered into an amendment to extend the License Agreement
with Motorola Mobility LLC through December 31, 2025. The 2020 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola
trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide, including Service Provider Channels.
In March 2020 Zoom entered into a License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC to sell consumer grade home security
and monitoring products and to provide related services (the “2020 License Agreement”). The term of the 2020 License Agreement runs
through December 31, 2025 and includes minimum licensing payments beginning in 2021 and continuing through the remainder of the
agreement term.
Zoom currently ships nine Motorola® brand cable modem products. The least expensive product in this line is an 8x4 DOCSIS
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3.0 cable modem, and the most expensive is a cable gateway that includes a 24x8 DOCSIS 3.0 cable modem, an AC1900 WiFi router
with Power Boost, and two telephone lines. Zoom’s product line includes three 24x8 cable modema and cable modem routers, and a
DOCSIS 3.1 cable modem. In the future Zoom plans to extend its DOCSIS 3.1 product line, adding high-performance modem/routers
including mesh routers.
DSL Modems
Our DSL modems have incorporated the ADSL standards that are currently most popular worldwide. During the first half of
2018 Zoom began shipping a VDSL/ADSL AC1600 gateway product.
Mobile Broadband Modems and Routers
During the second half of 2009 Zoom began shipping its first mobile broadband or “cellular” products, mobile broadband USB
modems and wireless-N routers. In 2017 Zoom introduced a new line of USB cellular modems, and Zoom’s line now includes LTE
cell modems certified by AT&T and Verizon. Zoom plans to expand its line to include faster cellular modems including LTE Category
4, or Cat4, cell modems and, at some point, 5G cellular modems. Zoom also plans to introduce cellular modem/routers, including one
with wireless technology to support sensors and other IoT (Internet of Things) products.
Dial-Up Modems
We have a line of external Serial and USB dial-up modems with data speeds up to 56,000 bps. These modems are typically
designed to work with almost any terminal or computer, and to work with many computer operating systems including Windows, Apple,
Linux, and others. We sell and market dial-up modems under the Zoom® and Hayes® brands, occasionally bulk packed for some OEM
and high-volume accounts.
Local Area Network Products
In 2017 Zoom began shipping its first Motorola® brand local area network products including a Motorola AC1900 router, a
Motorola AC1700 router, a Motorola AC2600 router, a Motorola AC1200 range extender, and a Motorola Bonded 2.0 MoCA Adapter.
When plugged into a cable modem or other broadband modem, WiFi routers provide shared Internet access for WiFi and Ethernet
devices. A range extender is typically used to extend the WiFi coverage of a router. A MoCA Adapter provides an Ethernet connection
over coaxial cable between a MoCA-capable router and an HDTV, PC, or other device connected to the MoCA Adapter. Zoom plans
to sell its Motorola brand Local Area Network products in the US and internationally.
Mobile Broadband Sensors
In 2019 Zoom introduced a line of sensor products that communicate sensor data via a built-in cellular modem through the
Internet to a smartphone or browser-enabled device. This cellular approach typically makes these sensors easier to install than a sensor
that requires a router and a broadband connection. This approach can be teamed up with a very low-cost data plan, since the amount of
data being transmitted is low. Zoom’s first product is a multi-sensor that senses temperature, humidity, earthquake and other vibration,
motion, water, light, and power loss. Zoom believes that there is significant potential for cellular sensor products, but that there are
significant risks including risk relating to delays in finishing these products and risks from competitors.
Products for Markets outside North America
Products for countries outside the US typically differ from a similar product for the US due to different regulatory and
certification requirements, country-specific phone jacks and AC power adapters, and language-related specifics. As a result, the
introduction of new products into markets outside North America can be costly and time-consuming. In 1993, we introduced our first
dial-up modem approved for selected Western European countries. Since then we have sold our products into a number of markets
outside North America. We have received regulatory certifications for and we are currently selling our products in a number of countries,
including the US, the United Kingdom (“UK”), and Canada. We intend to continue to expand and enhance our product line for our
existing markets and to seek certifications for the sale of new products outside the US. Most importantly for sales outside the US, we
hope to sell Motorola brand local area network products in the UK, Canada, Latin America, and other regions. The vast majority of our
sales were in North America from 2015 through 2019 due to the fact that the US is by far the largest market for cable modems sold
through retailers. We expect the US to continue to account for most of our sales. However, we expect to see growth outside North
America due to our worldwide Motorola license for a number of local area network products, DSL products, and cellular products.

Sales Channels
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General
We sell our products primarily through high-volume retailers and distributors, Internet service providers, service providers,
value-added resellers, PC system integrators, and Original Equipment Manufacturers ("OEMs"). We support our major accounts in their
efforts to discern strategic directions in the market, to maintain appropriate inventory levels, and to offer a balanced selection of attractive
products.
Relatively few companies account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. In 2019 two companies accounted for
10% or greater individually, and 84% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2019 three companies with
an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater individually accounted for a combined 84% of the Company’s accounts receivable.
In 2018 two companies accounted for 10% or greater individually, and 78% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At
December 31, 2018, four companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater individually accounted for a combined 79%
of the Company’s accounts receivable.
Distributors and Retailers outside North America
In markets outside North America we sell and ship our products primarily to distributors. We believe that sales growth outside
North America will continue to require substantial additional investments of resources for product design and testing, regulatory
certifications, native-language instruction manuals and software, packaging, sales support, and technical support. We have made this
investment in the past for many countries, and we expect to make this investment for some countries and products in the
future. However, we anticipate that the majority of sales in the next two years will come from North America, partly because the US
is one of the few countries with a robust retail cable modem market due to Federal regulations in the US. As we expand beyond cable
modems and put more emphasis on service providers, the proportion of our sales from countries outside the US should increase.
We have distributors in several countries, and we hope to add other distributors outside North America. We also hope that over
time our sales to service providers outside the US will increase.
North American High-volume Retailers and Distributors
In North America we reach the retail market primarily through high-volume retailers. Our North American retailers include
Best Buy, Micro Center, Target, Wal-Mart, Fry’s, and others including Amazon and other web-focused retailers.
We sell significant quantities of our products through distributors, who often sell to corporate accounts, retailers, service
providers, value-added resellers, equipment manufacturers, and other customers. Our North American distributors include D&H
Distributing and Ingram Micro.
Internet and Telephone Service Providers
In past years our sales have included DSL modems sold to DSL service providers in the US and in some other countries. We
plan to continue selling to and supporting these customers. In addition, we expect to increase our sales of cable modem and mobile
broadband products to service providers.
System Integrators and Original Equipment Manufacturers
Our system integrator and OEM customers sell our products under their own name or incorporate our products as a component
of their systems. We seek to be responsive to the needs of these customers by providing on-time delivery of high-quality, reliable, costeffective products with strong engineering and sales support. We believe that our cell modems are particularly appropriate for future
sales to system integrator and OEM customers.

Sales, Marketing & Support
Our sales, marketing, and support are primarily managed from our headquarters in Boston, Massachusetts. In North America
we sell our Zoom®, Motorola®, Hayes®, and private-label dial-up modem products through Zoom's sales force and through
commissioned independent sales representatives managed and supported by our own staff. Most service providers have been serviced
by Zoom's sales force, but we expect an increasing share of our service provider business to come from distributors who sell to service
providers. Worldwide technical support is primarily handled from our Boston headquarters.
We believe that Motorola®, Zoom®, and Hayes® are widely recognized brand names. We build upon our brand equity in a
variety of ways, including Amazon advertising, Google AdWords advertising, Facebook advertising, retailer cooperative advertising,
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product packaging, trade shows, and public relations.
We attempt to develop quality products that are user-friendly and that require minimal support. We typically support our claims
of quality with product warranties of one to two years, depending upon the product. To address the needs of end-users and resellers who
require assistance, we have our own staff of technical support specialists. They provide telephone support six days per week in English
and Spanish. Our technical support specialists also maintain a significant Internet support facility that includes email, firmware and
software downloads, and the SmartFacts™ Q&A search engine.

Research & Development
Our research and development efforts are focused on developing new products, enhancing the capabilities of existing products,
and reducing production costs. We have developed close collaborative relationships with certain of our Original Design Manufacturer
(“ODM”) suppliers and component suppliers. We work with these partners and other sources to identify and respond to emerging
technologies and market trends by developing products that address these trends. We also develop all the hardware and firmware for
certain products in-house, including some cellular modems and some future cellular sensors.
The Company’s costs on research and development were $2.2 million for 2019 and $1.8 million for 2018. The primary reason
for the increase in research and development costs was salary and related costs, increased product testing, and certification and software
development expenses. As of December 31, 2019, we had twelve employees engaged primarily in research and development. Our
research and development team performs electronics hardware design and layout, mechanical design, prototype construction and testing,
component specification, firmware and software development, product testing, foreign and domestic regulatory certification efforts,
end-user and internal documentation, and third-party software selection and testing.

Manufacturing & Suppliers
Our products are currently designed for high-volume automated assembly to help assure reduced costs, rapid market entry,
short lead times, and reliability. High-volume assembly typically occurs in China or Taiwan. Our contract manufacturers and original
design manufacturers typically obtain some or all of the material required to assemble the products based upon a Zoom Telephonics
Approved Vendor List and Parts List. Our manufacturers typically insert parts onto the printed circuit board, with most parts
automatically inserted by machine, solder the circuit board, and test the completed assemblies. The contract manufacturer sometimes
performs final packaging. For the US and many other markets, packaging is often performed at our facilities in North America, allowing
us to tailor the packaging and its contents for our customers immediately before shipping. This facility also performs warehousing,
shipping, quality control, finishing and some software updates from time to time. We also perform circuit design, circuit board layout,
and strategic component sourcing at our Boston headquarters. Wherever the product is built, our quality systems are used to help assure
that the product meets our specifications.
Our North American facility is currently located in Tijuana, Mexico. From time to time we experience certain challenges
associated with the Tijuana facility, specifically relating to bringing products across the border between the US and Mexico. We believe
that this facility assists us in cost-effectively providing rapid response to the needs of our US customers.
Historically we have used one primary manufacturer for a given design. We sometimes maintain back-up production tooling
at a second manufacturer for our highest-volume products. Our manufacturers are normally adequate to meet reasonable and properly
planned production needs; but a fire, natural calamity, strike, financial problem, the impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic or another
significant event at an assembler's facility could adversely affect our shipments and revenues. In 2019, one supplier provided 96% of
our purchased inventory. The loss of a key supplier, or a material adverse change in a key supplier’s business or in our relationship with
a key supplier, could materially and adversely harm our business.
Our products include a large number of parts, most of which are available from multiple sources with varying lead times.
However, most of our products include a sole-sourced chipset as the most critical component of the product. The vast majority of our
cable and DSL modem chipsets come exclusively from Broadcom. Most of our cellular products include a Gemalto module. Our dialup modem chipsets come exclusively from Conexant. Serious problems at Broadcom, including long chipset lead-times, would
significantly reduce Zoom’s shipments.
We have experienced delays in receiving shipments of essential integrated circuits in the past, and we may experience such
delays in the future. Moreover, we cannot assure that a chipset supplier will, in the future, sell chipsets to us in quantities sufficient to
meet our needs or that we will purchase the specified dollar amount of products necessary to receive concessions and incentives from a
chipset supplier. An interruption in a chipset supplier's ability to deliver chipsets, a failure of our suppliers to produce chipset
enhancements or new chipsets on a timely basis and at competitive prices, a material increase in the price of the chipsets, our failure to
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purchase a specified dollar amount of products or any other adverse change in our relationship with modem component suppliers could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
We are also subject to price fluctuations in our cost of goods. Our costs may increase if component shortages develop, leadtimes stretch out, fuel costs rise, or significant delays develop due to labor-related issues.
We are also subject to the Restriction of Hazardous Substances Directive (“RoHS”) and Consumer Electronics Control (“CEC”)
rules discussed above, which affect component sourcing, product manufacturing, sales, and marketing.
Since September 24, 2018 through the date of this report, almost 100% of our products have been subject to a tariff because
they are produced in China and they are in product categories subject to the tariff on our cost of goods at the time of entry into the US.
The tariff started at 10% and increased to 25% in June 2019. This has a significant impact on our cost of inventory and profitability.
Because these tariffs may not be reduced and may even be increased, we are actively working on finding production capability outside
China. Our largest supplier recently established a major production capability in Vietnam and we are actively transitioning the majority
of our production to this location. In addition, we are working with other suppliers outside of China. We do plan for most of our
inventory to be sourced outside of China by the end of the second quarter of 2020, thereby eliminating the tariff burden.
Competition
The Internet access and networking industries are intensely competitive and characterized by aggressive pricing practices,
continually changing customer demand patterns, rapid technological advances, and emerging industry standards. These characteristics
result in frequent introductions of new products with added capabilities and features, and continuous improvements in the relative
functionality and price of modems and other communications products. Our operating results and our ability to compete could be
adversely affected if we are unable to:
●

successfully and accurately anticipate customer demand;

●

manage our product transitions, inventory levels, and manufacturing processes efficiently;

●

distribute or introduce our products quickly in response to customer demand and technological advances;

●

differentiate our products from those of our competitors; or

●

otherwise compete successfully in the markets for our products.

Some of our primary competitors by product group include the following:
●
Cable modem competitors: Arris, Belkin/Linksys, D-Link, Hon Hai Network Systems (formerly Ambit
Microsystems), Netgear, Sagemcom, Technicolor, TP-Link and Ubee Interactive.
●

Dial-up modem competitors: Hiro, Lite-On, Multitech, and US Robotics.

●
DSL modem competitors: Arris, Actiontec, Asus, Aztech, Belkin / Linksys, D-Link, Huawei, Netgear, Sagemcom
(formerly Sagem), Technicolor, TP-Link, Xavi, and ZyXEL Communications.
●
Mobile broadband competitors: Cradlepoint, D-Link, Huawei, Inseego, Multitech, Netcomm Wireless, Netgear,
Nimbelink, Option, Sierra Wireless, and ZTE.
●
Networking competitors: Amped, Apple, Asus, Belkin/Linksys, D-Link, Eero, Google, Netgear, Securifi, Tenda,
TP-Link, Trendnet, and Ubiquiti.
Many of our competitors and potential competitors have more extensive financial, engineering, product development,
manufacturing, and marketing resources than we do.
The principal competitive factors in our industry include the following:
●

product performance, features, reliability and quality of service;

●

price;
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●

brand image;

●

product availability and lead times;

●

size and stability of operations;

●

breadth of product line;

●

sales and distribution capability, including retailer and distributor relationships;

●

technical support and service;

●

product documentation and product warranties;

●

relationships with providers of broadband access services; and

●

certifications evidencing compliance with various requirements.

We believe we are able to provide a competitive mix of the above factors for our products, particularly when they are sold
through retailers, computer product distributors, small to medium sized Internet service providers, and system integrators. We have been
less successful in selling directly to large telephone companies and other large providers of broadband access services.
Successfully penetrating the broadband modem market presents a number of challenges, including:
●

the current limited retail market for broadband modems, as most consumer broadband users get their modem from their
service provider;

● the relatively small number of cable, telecommunications and Internet service providers that make up the majority of the
market for broadband modems in the USA, our largest market;
● the significant bargaining power and market dominance of these large service providers;
● the time-consuming, expensive and uncertain certification processes of the various cable, DSL and mobile broadband service
providers; and
● the strong relationships with service providers enjoyed by some incumbent equipment providers, including ARRIS for cable
modems and Huawei for DSL and mobile broadband modems.

Intellectual Property Rights
We rely primarily on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and patents to protect our proprietary rights. We
have trademarks and copyrights for our firmware (software on a chip), printed circuit board artwork, instructions, packaging, and
literature. We also have three active patents that expire between years 2020 and 2031. We cannot assure that any patent application will
be granted or that any patent obtained will provide protection or be of commercial benefit to us, or that the validity of a patent will not
be challenged. Moreover, we cannot assure that our means of protecting our proprietary rights will be adequate or that our competitors
will not independently develop comparable or superior technologies.
We license certain technologies used in our products, typically rights to bundled software, on a non-exclusive basis. In addition,
we purchase chipsets that incorporate sophisticated technology. We have received, and may receive in the future, infringement claims
from third parties relating to our products and technologies. We investigate the validity of these claims and, if we believe the claims
have merit, we respond through licensing or other appropriate actions. Certain of these past claims have related to technology included
in modem chipsets. We forwarded these claims to the appropriate vendor. If we or our component manufacturers were unable to license
necessary technology on a cost-effective basis, we could be prohibited from marketing products containing that technology, incur
substantial costs in redesigning products incorporating that technology, or incur substantial costs defending any legal action taken against
it. Where possible we attempt to receive patent indemnification from chipset suppliers and other appropriate suppliers, but the extent of
this coverage varies, and enforcement of this indemnification may be difficult and costly.
In May 2015 we entered into an agreement to license certain Motorola ® brand trademarks for consumer cable modem products
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in the US and Canada through certain authorized sales channels using such trademarks beginning January 1, 2016 through December
31, 2020. In August 2016 Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2016
Amendment”). The 2016 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized
channels worldwide and expands the license from cable modems and gateways to also include consumer routers, WiFi range extenders,
home powerline network adapters, and access points. In August 2017 Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with
Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2017 Amendment”). The 2017 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola
trademark to a wide range of authorized channels worldwide, and expands the license from cable modems, gateways, consumer routers,
WiFi range extenders, home powerline network adapters, and access points to also include MoCa adapters, and cellular sensors. In
March 2020 Zoom entered into an amendment to extend the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC through December 31,
2025. The 2020 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels
worldwide, including Service Provider Channels.
In March 2020 we entered into a License with Motorola Mobility LLC to sell consumer grade home security and monitoring
products and to provide related services.

Backlog
Our backlog on February 29, 2020 was $287 thousand, and on February 28, 2019 was $136 thousand. Orders included in
backlog may be canceled or rescheduled by customers without significant penalty. Backlog as of any particular date should not be relied
upon as indicative of our net sales for any future period.

Employees
As of February 29, 2020, Zoom had thirty-eight full-time and part-time employees. Twelve employees were engaged in research
and development and quality control. Six employees were involved in operations, which manages production, inventory, purchasing,
warehousing, freight, invoicing, shipping, collections, and returns. Thirteen employees were engaged in sales, marketing, and customer
technical support. The remaining seven employees performed executive, accounting, administrative, and management information
systems functions. Our dedicated personnel in Tijuana, Mexico are employees of our Mexican service provider and not included in our
headcount. On February 29, 2020, Zoom had two consultants, one in sales and one in information systems, who are not included in our
headcount.

Executive Officers
The names and biographical information of our current executive officers are set forth below:
Name

Age

Joseph L. Wytanis
Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton

60
58

Position with Zoom

President & Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer

Joseph L. Wytanis joined Zoom in October 2018 as President and Chief Operating Officer. He is a high technology senior
level executive with extensive experience in consumer electronic and communication companies, and assumed the role of Chief
Executive Officer in February 2020. Prior to joining Zoom, he served as Senior Practice Engagement Partner at Infosys Limited from
March 2018, where he provided engineering services consulting to cable, mobile and satellite service operators and has also served as a
Principal at High Tech Associates, LLC from August 2011 through October 2018, where he provided consulting services relating to
vision, strategy, business development and marketing. Mr. Wytanis served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer at
SMC Networks, Inc. from January 2012 through August 2014, where he successfully led the introduction of a complete line of cable
home networking products and smart home IoT products. He previously served as a Vice President and General Manager at ScientificAtlanta/Cisco System, Inc. from 2000 through 2011, where he grew the Cable Home Networking Business Unit from a start-up to a
profitable business, and prior to that held marketing, business and strategy positions with Panasonic, BellSouth, NCR/AT&T, Northern
Telecom and the Associated Press. Mr. Wytanis earned a BS in Business Administration/Marketing from Rowan University and an
MBA from the University of Georgia, Terry College of Business.
Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton was appointed full-time Chief Financial Officer of Zoom in February 2020 following her initial role
with the Company as consultant and Acting CFO. Prior to joining Zoom, she served as Chief Financial Officer of Modo Labs, a mobile
application development company, from February 2019 through December 2019. Ms. Barry Hamilton served as Chief Financial Officer
of Netcracker Technology, a subsidiary of NEC Corporation that delivers a software platform together with professional integration
services and managed services to telecommunications and cable companies globally, from June 2015 through September 2018 and as
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Chief Financial Officer of Intronis, a company that provides cloud-based data protection and recovery, from March 2012 through June
2015. Ms. Barry Hamilton also served as Vice President Finance & Operations of Monster Worldwide, a global public company
providing a SaaS platform to match jobseekers with employers, from 2008 through 2012, and as Chief Financial Officer of the Global
Technology Division of Monster Worldwide from 2004 through 2008. Ms. Barry Hamilton served as Senior Vice President of the
Integrated Services Group of Level(3) Communications from March 2002 through May 2003. Ms. Barry Hamilton served as Senior
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at Corporate Software, a global reseller of software and related technologies from September
1998 through March 2002 and held positions of financial responsibility developing its finance, analytics and strategy functions between
September 1990 through September 1998. Ms. Barry Hamilton earned a BA in Finance from Simmons College and an MS in Finance
from the Carroll School of Management at Boston College.

ITEM 1A. – RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business
The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) will likely adversely affect our business.
The recent outbreak in China of the Coronavirus Disease 2019, or COVID-19, which has been declared by the World Health
Organization to be a “public health emergency of international concern,” has spread across the globe and is impacting worldwide
economic activity. A public health epidemic, including COVID-19, poses the risk that we or our employees, contractors, suppliers, and
other partners may be prevented from conducting business activities for an indefinite period of time, including due to shutdowns that
may be requested or mandated by governmental authorities. While it is not possible at this time to estimate the impact that COVID-19
could have on our business, the continued spread of COVID-19 and the measures taken by the governments of countries affected could
disrupt the supply chain and the manufacture or shipment of parts and finished components, and adversely impact our business, financial
condition or results of operations. The COVID-19 outbreak and mitigation measures may also have an adverse impact on global
economic conditions which could have an adverse effect on our business and financial condition. The extent to which the COVID-19
outbreak impacts our results will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new
information that may emerge concerning the severity of the virus and the actions to contain its impact.
Our recent license agreements with Motorola have risks, including risks associated with our ability to successfully generate
Motorola sales that are large enough to make our Motorola business profitable after we pay the minimum annual royalty
payments required by the license agreements. Our failure to successfully increase Motorola sales would have an adverse effect
on our liquidity and financial results.
In May 2015 Zoom entered into an agreement to exclusively license the Motorola brand trademark for use with cable modem products
in North America for five years starting with shipments January 2016. In August 2016 that agreement was amended to include WiFi
routers, range extenders, and other products worldwide, and to increase the minimum royalty payments. In August 2017 that agreement
was amended again to include cellular modems and routers, DSL modems and routers, MoCA Adapters, and cellular sensors, and to
increase the minimum royalty payments. In March 2020 Zoom entered into an amendment to extend the License Agreement with
Motorola Mobility LLC through December 31, 2025. In March 2020 Zoom entered into a License Agreement to sell consumer grade
home security and monitoring products and provide related services. In connection with this opportunity, Zoom has an aggressive plan
to continue to introduce new Motorola brand products. Our product development plan has and will continue to increase our costs and
may result in cost overruns and delays. If our sales of Motorola brand products do not meet our forecasts, this may result in excess
inventory and a shortage of cash. In addition, each of the license agreements includes significant minimum quarterly royalty payments
due by Zoom. If we are unable to sell a sufficient number of Motorola brand products to offset these minimum royalty payments, our
net income and cash position will be reduced, and we may continue to experience losses.
Tariffs significantly harm our cash flow and profitability, and they may continue to do that in the future.
Since September 24, 2018 through the date of this report, almost 100% of our products have been subject to a tariff because they are
produced in China and they are in product categories subject to the tariff on our cost of goods at the time of entry into the US. The tariff
started at 10% and increased to 25% in June 2019. This has a significant impact on our cost of inventory and profitability. Because
these tariffs may not be reduced and may even be increased, we are actively working on finding production capability outside China.
Our largest supplier is actively working on setting up a major production capability in Vietnam, and we are working with other suppliers
outside on China. We do plan for most of our inventory to be sourced outside of China by the end of the second quarter of 2020, thereby
eliminating the tariff burden. It is not possible to predict the impact of tariffs in the future, but that could have a material adverse impact
on our net income and cash position will be reduced and we may continue to experience losses.
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We may require additional funding, which may be difficult to obtain on favorable terms, if at all.
Over the next twelve months we may require additional funding if, for instance, we buy inventory and develop products in anticipation
of significant Motorola sales, if our sales are lower than forecast, or if we continue to experience losses. On September 1, 2016, we
signed an amendment to our financing agreement to increase our line of credit to $3.0 million assuming our receivables support this
amount; and this line is subject to covenants that must be met and may be terminated by the lender at any time upon sixty days prior
notice. It is not certain whether all or part of this line of credit will be available to us in the future; and other sources of financing may
not be available to us on a timely basis if at all, or on terms acceptable to us. If we fail to obtain acceptable additional financing when
needed, we may not have sufficient resources to fund our normal operations; and this would have a material adverse effect on our
business.
We may experience costs and senior management distractions due to patent-related matters.
Many of our products incorporate patented technology. We attempt to license appropriate patents either directly or through our
integrated circuit suppliers. However, we are subject to costs and senior management distractions due to patent-related litigation.
Patent litigation matters are complex and time consuming and expose Zoom to potentially material obligations. It is impossible to assess
the potential cost and senior management distraction associated with patent litigation matters that are currently outstanding or may occur
in the future.
Our reliance on a small number of customers for a large portion of our revenues could materially harm our business and
prospects.
Relatively few companies account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. In 2019 two companies accounted for 10% or
greater individually, and 84% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2019 three companies with an accounts
receivable balance of 10% or greater individually accounted for a combined 84% of the Company’s accounts receivable. In 2018 two
companies accounted for 10% or greater individually, and 78% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31,
2018, four companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater individually accounted for a combined 79% of the
Company’s accounts receivable.
Our customers generally do not enter into long-term agreements obligating them to purchase our products. Because of our significant
customer concentration, our net sales and operating income could fluctuate significantly due to changes in political or economic
conditions or the loss of, reduction of business with, or less favorable terms for any of our significant customers. A reduction or delay
in orders from any of our significant customers, or a delay or default in payment by any significant customer could materially harm our
business, results of operation and liquidity.
Product liability claims related to future sensor products could harm our competitive position, results of operations and financial
condition.
We plan to introduce products that may be used to monitor for threats such as fire, flooding, break-ins, medical emergencies, and other
threats; to allow remote control of our Connected Home products and attached electrical devices; and to cause actions including alerts
and sirens in certain situations. If our products fail to provide accurate and timely information or to operate as designed, our customers
could assert claims against us for product liability. Litigation with respect to product liability claims, regardless of any outcome, could
result in substantial cost to us, divert management’s attention from operations and decrease market acceptance of our products. While
we intend to carry product liability insurance, we cannot give any assurance that our current or future insurance coverage will be
sufficient to cover all possible liabilities. Further, we can give no assurance that adequate insurance will be available to us or that such
insurance may be maintained at a reasonable cost to us. A successful claim brought against us, or any claim or product recall that results
in negative publicity about us, could harm our competitive position, results of operations and financial condition.
The market for internet access products and services has many competing technologies, and the demand for certain of our
products and services is declining.
If we are unable to grow demand for our broadband and dial-up modems or other products, we may be unable to sustain or grow our
business. The market for high-speed communications products and services has a number of competing technologies. For instance,
Internet access can be achieved by using a standard telephone line with an appropriate modem and dial-up or DSL service; using a cable
TV line with a cable modem and cable modem service; or using a mobile broadband modem and mobile broadband service. We currently
sell products that include all these technologies. The introduction of new products by competitors, market acceptance of competing
products based on new or alternative technologies, or the emergence of new industry standards have in the past rendered and could
continue to render our products less competitive or even obsolete.
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Our reliance on sole suppliers or limited sources of supply could materially harm our business.
We obtain certain key parts, components, and equipment from sole or limited sources of supply. In 2019, the Company had one supplier
that provided 96% of the Company's purchased inventory. In 2018, the Company had one supplier that provided 99% of the Company's
purchased inventory. Also, as examples, the vast majority of our broadband modems use Broadcom chipsets and the vast majority of
our dial-up modems use Conexant chipsets. The loss of the services of any of our significant suppliers or a material change in their
business or their relationship with us could harm our business and operating results. In the past we have experienced long lead-times
and significant delays in receiving shipments of modem chipsets from our sole source suppliers. We may experience similar delays in
the future. In addition, some products may have other components that are available from only one source. If we are unable to obtain a
sufficient supply of components from our current sources, we would experience difficulties in obtaining alternative sources or in altering
product designs to use alternative components. Resulting delays or reductions in product shipments could damage relationships with our
customers, and our customers could decide to purchase products from our competitors. Inability to meet our customers’ demand or a
decision by one or more of our customers to purchase products from our competitors could harm our operating results.
Fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates in relation to the US dollar could have a material adverse effect on our
operating results.
Changes in currency exchange rates that increase the relative value of the US dollar may make it more difficult for us to compete with
foreign manufacturers on price, may reduce our foreign currency denominated sales when expressed in dollars, or may otherwise have
a material adverse effect on our sales and operating results. A significant increase in our foreign currency denominated sales would
increase our risk associated with foreign currency fluctuations. A weakness in the US dollar relative to the Mexican peso and various
Asian currencies, especially the Chinese renminbi (“RMB”), could increase our product costs. Fluctuations in the currency exchange
rates have, and may continue to, adversely affect our operating results.
Capacity constraints in our Mexican operations could reduce our sales and revenues and hurt customer relationships.
We rely on our Mexican operations to finish and ship most of the products we sell. Since moving our operations to our Mexican facility
we have experienced and may continue to experience constraints on our capacity as we address challenges related to operating our new
facility, such as hiring and training workers, creating the facility’s infrastructure, developing new supplier relationships, complying with
customs and border regulations, and resolving shipping and logistical issues. Our sales and revenues may be reduced, and our customer
relationships may be impaired if we continue to experience constraints on our capacity. We are working to minimize capacity constraints
in a cost-effective manner, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to adequately minimize capacity constraints.
Our reliance on a business processing outsourcing partner to conduct our operations in Mexico could materially harm our
business and prospects.
In connection with our North American manufacturing operations in Mexico, we rely on a business processing outsourcing partner to
hire, subject to our oversight, the team for our Mexican operations, provide the selected facility described above, and coordinate many
of the ongoing logistics relating to our operations in Mexico. Our outsourcing partner’s related functions include acquiring the necessary
Mexican permits, providing the appropriate Mexican operating entity, assisting in customs clearances, and providing other general
assistance and administrative services in connection with the ongoing operation of the Mexican facility. Our outsourcing partner’s
performance of these obligations efficiently and effectively is critical to the success of our operations in Mexico. Failure of our
outsourcing partner to perform its obligations efficiently and effectively could result in delays, unanticipated costs or interruptions in
production, delays in deliveries to our customers or other harm to our business, results of operation, and liquidity. Moreover, if our
outsourcing arrangement is not successful, we cannot assure our ability to find an alternative production facility or outsourcing partner
to assist in our operations in Mexico or our ability to operate successfully in Mexico without outsourcing or similar assistance.
We believe that our future success will depend in large part on our ability to more successfully penetrate the broadband modem
markets, which have been challenging markets, with significant barriers to entry.
We believe that our future success depends in large part on our ability to penetrate the broadband modem markets including cable and
mobile broadband. These markets have significant barriers to entry. Although some cable, and mobile broadband modems are sold at
retail, the high-volume purchasers of these modems are concentrated in a relatively few large cable, telephone, and mobile broadband
service providers which offer broadband modem services to their customers. These customers, particularly cable and mobile broadband
services providers, also have extensive and varied certification processes for modems to be approved for use on their network. These
certifications are expensive and time consuming, and they continue to evolve. Successfully penetrating the broadband modem market
therefore presents a number of challenges including: the current limited retail market for broadband modems; the relatively small number
of cable, telecommunications and Internet service provider customers that make up the bulk of the market for broadband modems in
certain countries, including the US; the significant bargaining power of these large volume purchasers; the time consuming, expensive,
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uncertain and varied certification process of the various cable service providers; the savings if any offered to customers who use their
own modem instead of one supplied by the service provider; and the strong relationships with cable service providers enjoyed by
incumbent cable equipment providers like Arris.
If we fail to meet changing customer requirements and emerging industry standards, there would be an adverse impact on our
ability to sell our products and services.
The market for Internet access products and services is characterized by aggressive pricing practices, continually changing customer
demand patterns, rapid technological advances, emerging industry standards and short product life cycles. Some of our product and
service developments and enhancements have taken longer than planned and have delayed the availability of our products and services,
which adversely affected our sales and profitability in the past. Any significant delays in the future may adversely impact our ability to
sell our products and services, and our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. Our future success will
depend in large part upon our ability to: identify and respond to emerging technological trends and industry standards in the market;
develop and maintain competitive products that meet changing customer demands; enhance our products by adding innovative features
that differentiate our products from those of our competitors; bring products to market on a timely basis; introduce products that have
competitive prices; manage our product transitions, inventory levels and manufacturing processes efficiently; respond effectively to new
technological changes or new product announcements by others; meet changing industry standards; distribute our products quickly in
response to customer demand; and compete successfully in the markets for our new products. These factors could also have an adverse
effective on our operating results.
Our product cycles tend to be short and we may incur significant non-recoverable expenses or devote significant resources to sales that
do not occur when anticipated. Therefore, the resources we devote to product development, sales and marketing may not generate
material net sales for us. In addition, short product cycles have resulted in and may in the future result in excess and obsolete inventory,
which has had and may in the future have an adverse effect on our results of operations. In an effort to develop innovative products and
technology, we have incurred and may in the future incur substantial development, sales, marketing, and inventory costs. If we are
unable to recover these costs, our financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected. In addition, if we sell our products
at reduced prices in anticipation of cost reductions and we still have higher cost products in inventory, our business would be harmed,
and our results of operations and financial condition would be adversely affected.
Our operations are subject to a number of risks that could harm our business.
Currently our business is significantly dependent on our operations outside the US, particularly the production of substantially all of our
products. For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019 sales outside North America were only 2.3% of our net sales. However, almost
all of our manufacturing operations are now located outside of the US. The inherent risks of international operations could harm our
business, results of operation, and liquidity. For instance, our operations in Mexico are subject to the challenges and risks associated
with international operations, including those related to integration of operations across different cultures and languages, and economic,
legal, political and regulatory risks. In addition, fluctuations in the currency exchange rates have had, and may continue to have, an
adverse effect on our operating results. The types of risks faced in connection with international operations include, among others:
regulatory and communications requirements and policy changes; currency exchange rate fluctuation, including changes in value of the
Mexican peso relative to the US dollar; cultural differences; reduced control over staff and other difficulties in staffing and managing
foreign operations; reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; political and economic changes and disruptions;
governmental currency controls; shipping costs; strikes and work slowdowns at ports or other locations in the supply path; and import,
export, and tariff regulations. Almost all of our products are built in mainland China or Taiwan, so these products are subject to
numerous risks including currency risk and economic, legal, political and regulatory risks. Additionally, the Trump Administration has
recently instituted or proposed other changes in trade policies that include the negotiation or termination of trade agreements, including
the North America Free Trade Agreement, or NAFTA, economic sanctions on individuals, corporations or countries, and other
government regulations affecting trade between the US and other countries where we conduct our business. The Trump Administration
has also negotiated a replacement trade deal for NAFTA with Mexico and Canada, known as the United States-Mexico-Canada
Agreement, or USMCA, which still needs to be ratified by the respective government of each of the three countries. It may be timeconsuming and expensive for us to alter our business operations in order to adapt to or comply with any such changes. If the United
States were to withdraw from or materially modify NAFTA or other international trade agreements to which it is a party, or if tariffs
were raised on the China-sourced products that we buy, our costs for such products could increase significantly, which in turn could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may be subject to product returns resulting from defects or from overstocking of our products. Product returns could result
in the failure to attain market acceptance of our products, which would harm our business.
If our products contain undetected defects, errors, or failures, we could face delays in the development of our products, numerous product
returns, and other losses to us or to our customers or end users. Any of these occurrences could also result in the loss of or delay in
market acceptance of our products, either of which would reduce our sales and harm our business. We are also exposed to the risk of
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product returns from our customers as a result of contractual stock rotation privileges and our practice of assisting some of our customers
in balancing their inventories. Overstocking has in the past led and may in the future lead to higher than normal returns.
If we fail to effectively manage our inventory levels, there could be a material and adverse effect on our liquidity and our
business.
Due to rapid technological change and changing markets we are required to manage our inventory levels carefully to both meet customer
expectations regarding delivery times and to limit our excess inventory exposure. In the event we fail to effectively manage our
inventory, our liquidity may be adversely affected and we may face increased risk of inventory obsolescence, a decline in market value
of the inventory, or losses from theft, fire, or other casualty.
We may be unable to produce sufficient quantities of our products because we depend on third party manufacturers. If these
third-party manufacturers fail to produce quality products in a timely manner, our ability to fulfill our customer orders would
be adversely impacted.
We use contract manufacturers and original design manufacturers for electronics manufacturing of most of our products. We use these
third-party manufacturers to help ensure low costs, rapid market entry, and reliability. Any manufacturing disruption could impair our
ability to fulfill orders, and failure to fulfill orders would adversely affect our sales. Although we currently use four electronics
manufacturers for the bulk of our purchases, in some cases a given product is only provided by one of these companies. The loss of the
services of any of our significant third-party manufacturers or a material adverse change in the business of or our relationships with any
of these manufacturers could harm our business. Since third parties manufacture our products and we expect this to continue in the
future, our success will depend, in part, on the ability of third parties to manufacture our products cost effectively and in sufficient
quantities to meet our customer demand.
We are subject to the following risks because of our reliance on third party manufacturers: reduced management and control of
component purchases; reduced control over delivery schedules, quality assurance, manufacturing yields, and labor practices; lack of
adequate capacity during periods of excess demand; limited warranties on products supplied to us; potential increases in prices;
interruption of supplies from assemblers as a result of a fire, natural calamity, global health pandemic, strike or other significant event;
and misappropriation of our intellectual property.
Our cable modem sales may be significantly reduced due to long lead-times.
Cable modems and other broadband modems represented approximately 90% of Zoom’s net sales during 2019. These products have
experienced long lead-times due to certain component production lead-times of up to 20 weeks and due to manufacturer-related delays,
and these long lead times may significantly reduce our potential sales.
We face significant competition, which could result in decreased demand for our products or services.
We may be unable to compete successfully. A number of companies have developed, or are expected to develop, products that compete
or will compete with our products. Furthermore, many of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater resources than
we do. Intense competition, rapid technological change and evolving industry standards could result in less favorable selling terms to
our customers, decrease demand for our products or make our products obsolete. Our operating results and our ability to compete could
be adversely affected if we are unable to: successfully and accurately anticipate customer demand; manage our product transitions,
inventory levels, and manufacturing processes efficiently; distribute or introduce our products quickly in response to customer demand
and technological advances; differentiate our products from those of our competitors; or otherwise compete successfully in the markets
for our products.
Environmental regulations may increase our manufacturing costs and harm our business.
In the past, environmental regulations have increased our manufacturing costs and caused us to modify products. New state, US, or other
regulations may in the future impact our product costs or restrict our ability to ship certain products into certain regions.
Changes in current or future laws or governmental regulations and industry standards that negatively impact our products,
services and technologies could harm our business.
The jurisdiction of the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”), extends to the entire US communications industry including our
customers and their products and services that incorporate our products. Our products are also required to meet the regulatory
requirements of other countries throughout the world where our products and services are sold. Obtaining government certifications is
time-consuming and costly. In the past, we have encountered delays in the introduction of our products, such as our cable modems, as
a result of government certifications. We may face further delays if we are unable to comply with governmental regulations. Delays
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caused by the time it takes to comply with regulatory requirements may result in cancellations or postponements of product orders or
purchases by our customers, which would harm our business.
In addition to reliability and quality standards, the market acceptance of certain products and services is dependent upon the adoption
of industry standards so that products from multiple manufacturers are able to communicate with each other. Standards are continuously
being modified and replaced. As standards evolve, we may be required to modify our existing products or develop and support new
versions of our products. The failure of our products to comply, or delays in compliance, with various existing and evolving industry
standards could delay or interrupt volume production of our products, which could harm our business.
Our future success will depend on the continued services of our key product development personnel.
The loss of any of our key product development personnel, the inability to attract or retain qualified personnel in the future, or delays in
hiring skilled personnel could harm our business. Competition for skilled personnel is significant. We may be unable to attract and retain
all the personnel necessary for the development of our business. In addition, the loss of any member of the senior management team, a
key engineer or salesperson, or other key contributors, could harm our relations with our customers, our ability to respond to
technological change, and our business.
We may have difficulty protecting our intellectual property.
Our ability to compete is heavily affected by our ability to protect our intellectual property. We rely primarily on trade secret laws,
confidentiality procedures, patents, copyrights, trademarks, and licensing arrangements to protect our intellectual property. The steps
we take to protect our technology may be inadequate. Existing trade secret, trademark and copyright laws offer only limited protection.
Our patents could be invalidated or circumvented. We have more intellectual property assets in some countries than we do in others. In
addition, the laws of some foreign countries in which our products are or may be developed, manufactured or sold may not protect our
products or intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the US. This may make the possibility of piracy of our
technology and products more likely. We cannot ensure that the steps that we have taken to protect our intellectual property will be
adequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology.
We could infringe the intellectual property rights of others.
Particular aspects of our technology could be found to infringe on the intellectual property rights or patents of others. Other companies
may hold or obtain patents on inventions or may otherwise claim proprietary rights to technology necessary to our business. We cannot
predict the extent to which we may be required to seek licenses. We cannot assure that the terms of any licenses we may be required to
seek will be reasonable. We are often indemnified by our suppliers relative to certain intellectual property rights; but these
indemnifications do not cover all possible suits, and there is no guarantee that a relevant indemnification will be honored by the
indemnifying party.
We could be subject to additional sales tax or other tax liabilities.
States have varying policies regarding when a company has a taxable presence in the state. There are many factors to consider when
determining if state nexus exists, including inventory consignment to ordering and fulfillment, physical presence, economic presence,
and personnel. We have policies and procedures in place to collect and pay sales tax for Amazon sales in states where we believe we
have nexus and are required to charge sales tax. However, it is possible that we could be negatively impacted by a change in state laws
and policies, court decisions, Federal law, or our decisions about where sales tax is owed. In addition, we may incur income tax liability
in some states where we have nexus.
Our revenues may be severely reduced if we are unable to retain the Motorola brand licenses for the Motorola brand products
we produce.
The Motorola brand has been an important part of our significant growth from 2016 through 2019. Although the March 2020 amendment
to the 2015 License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (including all prior amendments) extended its term through December 31,
2025 and the 2020 License Agreement to provide consumer grade home security and monitoring products and related services has a
term expiring on December 31, 2025, there are provisions in both license agreements that would cause expiration at an earlier date.
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Risks Related to the Securities Market and Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock may be volatile and trading volume may be low.
The market price of our common stock could fluctuate significantly for many reasons, including, without limitation: as a result of the
risk factors listed herein; actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results; regulatory changes that could impact our business;
and general economic and industry conditions. Shares of our common stock are quoted on the OTCQB Venture Market. The lack of
an active market may impair the ability of holders of our common stock to sell their shares of common stock at the time they wish to
sell them or at a price that they consider reasonable. The lack of an active market may also reduce the fair market value of the shares
of our common stock.
We do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.
We do not expect to declare dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain cash to support our operations and to
finance the growth and development of our business. There can be no assurance that we will have, at any time, sufficient surplus under
Delaware law to be able to pay any dividends. If we do not pay dividends, the price of our common stock must appreciate for you to
receive a gain on your investment in Zoom Telephonics.
Our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders own a significant percentage of our shares, which will limit your
ability to influence corporate matters.
Our directors, executive officers, and stockholders with over 5% of our stock together owned approximately 50% percent of our
outstanding Common Stock as of April 9, 2020. Accordingly, these stockholders could have a significant influence over the outcome
of any corporate transaction or other matter submitted to our stockholders for approval, including mergers, consolidations and the sale
of all or substantially all of our assets and also could prevent or cause a change in control. The interests of these stockholders may differ
from the interests of our other stockholders. Third parties may be discouraged from making a tender offer or bid to acquire us because
of this concentration of ownership.
Our ability to use our net operating losses (“NOLs”) may be negatively affected if there is an “ownership change” as defined
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.
At December 31, 2019 we had approximately $56.0 million in federal NOLs. These deferred tax assets are currently fully
reserved. Under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 rules, if a change of ownership is triggered, our ability to use our NOLs can be
negatively affected if there is an “ownership change” as defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. An ownership change at any
time is determined by considering each shareholder with 5% or more ownership, summing the highest percentage change for each of
those shareholders over the prior three years, and determining that the sum exceeds 50%. Given Internal Revenue Code Section 382’s
broad definition, an ownership change could be the unintended consequence of otherwise normal market trading in the Company’s stock
that is outside of the Company’s control.

ITEM 1B. – UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2 – PROPERTIES
Our principal executive offices are located at 225 Franklin St, Boston, Massachusetts, where we sublease approximately 11,480
square feet of office space pursuant to a lease that expires in 2020, with an automatic renewal clause unless terminated under the lease
agreement. Previously, our headquarters was located at 99 High St, Boston, MA from August 2016 through June 2019.
We also have two leases in Tijuana, Mexico. We signed a lease for a 11,390 square foot facility in November 2014, and in
September 2015, also leased spaced in the adjacent building to double our capacity. We currently have signed a lease extension to stay
in the existing facilities through November 30, 2020.
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We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our near-term needs, though additional space could be required based
upon business activities. When our existing leases expire, we may look for alternate space for our operations. We believe that suitable
alternative space would be available on commercially reasonable terms if required in the future.

ITEM 3 – LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On January 23, 2020, William Schulze filed a complaint (the “Schulze Complaint”) as lead plaintiff on behalf of purchasers of
Zoom modems in a putative class action lawsuit against Zoom in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts. The Schulze
Complaint alleges that Zoom modems were sold as new despite containing refurbished parts. Zoom intends to vigorously defend itself
against these claims.
The Company does not have any other pending or outstanding legal proceedings beyond that referenced above.

ITEM 4 – MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5 – MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock trades on the OTCQB under the symbol "ZMTP".

As of April 9, 2020, there were 21,276,762 shares of our common stock outstanding and 134 holders of record of our common
stock.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not plan to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Our current policy is to retain all of our earnings to finance future growth.
Repurchases by the Company
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock on our own behalf or
for any affiliated purchaser.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The information required by this Item 5 regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is set
forth in Part III, Item 12 of this report.
ITEM 6 – SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not required.
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ITEM 7 – MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
The following section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” contains statements that are not statements of historical fact and are forward-looking statements
within the meaning of federal securities laws. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that
may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These statements reflect our current views with respect to future
events and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties. Factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially
from those in the forward-looking statements include those factors described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” beginning on page 13 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should carefully review all of these factors, as well as the comprehensive discussion of forwardlooking statements on page 22 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
We derive our net sales primarily from sales of Internet access and other communications-related products, including cable
modems and gateways, wireless routers, DSL modems and dial-up modems to retailers, distributors, Internet Service Providers and
Original Equipment Manufacturers. We sell our products through a direct sales force and through independent sales agents. Our
employees are located at our headquarters in Boston, Massachusetts. We are experienced in electronics hardware, firmware, and
software design and testing, regulatory certifications, product documentation, and packaging; and we use that experience in developing
each product in-house or in partnership with suppliers who are typically based in Asia. Electronic assembly and testing of the Company’s
products in accordance with our specifications is typically done in Asia.
We continually seek to improve our product designs and manufacturing approach in order to improve product performance and
reduce our costs. We pursue a strategy of outsourcing rather than internally developing our modem chipsets, which are applicationspecific integrated circuits that form the technology base for our modems. By outsourcing the chipset technology, we are able to
concentrate our research and development resources on modem system design, leverage the extensive research and development
capabilities of our chipset suppliers, and reduce our development time and associated costs and risks. As a result of this approach, we
are able to quickly develop new products while maintaining a relatively low level of research and development expense as a percentage
of net sales. We also outsource aspects of our manufacturing to contract manufacturers as a means of reducing our costs of production,
and to provide us with greater flexibility in our production capacity.
Generally, our gross margin for a given product depends on a number of factors including the type of customer to whom we
are selling. The gross margin products sold to for retailers tends to be higher than for some of our other customers; but the sales, support,
returns, and overhead costs associated with products sold to retailers also tend to be higher. Zoom’s sales to certain countries are currently
handled by a single master distributor for each country, who handles the support and marketing costs within the country. Gross margin
for sales to these master distributors tends to be low, since lower pricing to these distributors helps them to cover the support and
marketing costs for their country.
As of February 29, 2020, Zoom had thirty-eight full-time and part-time employees. Twelve employees were engaged in research
and development and quality control. Six employees were involved in operations, which manages production, inventory, purchasing,
warehousing, freight, invoicing, shipping, collections, and returns. Thirteen employees were engaged in sales, marketing, and customer
technical support. The remaining seven employees performed executive, accounting, administrative, and management information
systems functions. Our dedicated personnel in Tijuana, Mexico are employees of our Mexican service provider and not included in our
headcount. On February 29, 2020, Zoom had two consultants, one in sales and one in information systems, who are not included in our
headcount.
The Company’s cash balance on December 31, 2019 was $1.2 million compared to $126 thousand on December 31, 2018. On
December 31, 2019, the Company no bank debt on an available asset-based credit line of $3.0 million, working capital of $5.4 million,
and a current ratio of 1.7.
The Company closed on a $5 million private placement and issued an aggregate of 4,545,455 shares on May 3, 2019, and soon
after the closing of the offering Jeremy Hitchcock and Jonathan Seelig joined Zoom’s Board of Directors. Other major changes of cash
during 2019 were decreases of approximately $0.5 million in inventory and $0.6 million in prepaid expenses; and increases in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of approximated $1.1 million. Major items that decreased cash were a net loss of approximately $3.3
million, a reduction in debt of approximately $1.7 million, and an accounts receivable increase of approximately $1.3 million.
The Company’s ability to maintain adequate levels of liquidity depends in part on our ability to sell inventory on hand and
collect related receivables. Effective September 24, 2018, almost all of our products were subject to a 10% tariff because they are
produced in China and they are in product categories subject to a 10% tariff on our cost of goods at the time of entry into the US.
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Effective June 15, 2019 almost all of our products have been subject to the tariff increase from 10% to 25%. This has a significant
impact on our cost of inventory and profitability. Because these tariffs may not be reduced and may even be increased, we are actively
working on moving production capability outside China. Our largest supplier is actively working on setting up a major production
capability in Vietnam. Although the Company has recently experienced losses, it has continued to experience sales growth. Zoom
experienced four consecutive years with double-digit sales growth. The Company expects year-over-year growth due to a number of
factors including the strength of the Motorola brand, new product introductions, increased shelf space, growing online retailer sales, and
international expansion. Because of projected sales increases, the strength of its balance sheet, its unused line of credit, and efforts to
move production capability outside of China, the Company expects to maintain acceptable levels of liquidity to meet its obligations as
they become due for at least twelve months from the date of issuance of the Company’s filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Recent Accounting Standards
Refer to Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Following is a discussion of what we view as our more significant accounting policies and estimates. As described below,
management judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements. We have identified areas where material differences could result in the amount and timing of our net sales, costs, and
expenses for any period if we had made different judgments or used different estimates.
Revenue Recognition. The Company primarily sells hardware products to its customers. The hardware products include dialup modems, DSL modems, cable modems, mobile broadband modems, and wireless and wired networking equipment. The Company
does not sell software.
The Company derives its net sales primarily from the sales of hardware products to computer peripherals retailers, computer
product distributors, OEMs, and direct to consumers and other channel partners via the Internet. The Company accounts for point-ofsale taxes on a net basis.
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, to clarify the principles used to recognize revenue for all entities. Under ASU 2014-09, an
entity will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which a company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606 using the modified retrospective method
provision of this standard effective January 1, 2018, which required the Company to apply the new revenue standard to (i) all new
revenue contracts entered into after January 1, 2018 and (ii) all existing revenue contracts as of January 1, 2018 through a cumulative
adjustment to retained earnings. In accordance with this approach, there was no material impact which required a cumulative effect
adjustment. See Footnote 2 in the financial statements included in this report.
Product Returns. Products are returned by retail stores and distributors for inventory balancing, contractual stock rotation
privileges, and warranty repair or replacements. Analyses of actual returned product are compared to that of the product return estimates
and historically have resulted in no material difference between the two. The Company has concluded that the current process of
estimating the return reserve represents a fair measure with which to adjust revenue. Returned goods are variable and under Topic 606,
are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). Under
implementation of Topic 606, the Company monitors pending authorized returns of goods and, if deemed appropriate, record the right
of return asset accordingly.
Price Protection Refunds. We have a policy of offering price protection to certain of our retailer and distributor customers for
some or all their inventory. Price protection provides that if the Company reduces the price on any products sold to the customer, the
Company will guarantee an account credit for the price difference for all quantities of that product that the customer still holds. Price
protection is variable and under Topic 606, are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance obligations are
satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). The estimates are due to price protection are historically not material.
Volume Rebates and Promotion Programs. Many of our retailer customers require sales and marketing support funding,
usually set as a percentage of our sales in their stores. Volume rebates are variable dependent upon the volume of goods sold-through
the Company’s customers to end users variable and under Topic 606, are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as
performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). The estimates due to rebates and promotions are historically not
material.
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Warranties. The Company does not offer customers to purchase a warranty separately. Therefore, there is not a separate
performance obligation. The Company does account for warranties as a cost accrual and the warranties do not include any additional
distinct services other than the assurance that the goods comply with agreed-upon specifications. Warranties are variable and under
Topic 606, are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of
goods). The estimates due to warranties are historically not material.
Inventory Valuation and Cost of Goods Sold. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, determined by the first-in, first-out
method, or its net realizable value. We review inventories for obsolete slow-moving products each quarter and make provisions based
on our estimate of the probability that the material will not be consumed or that it will be sold below cost. Additionally, material product
certification costs on new products are capitalized and amortized over the expected period of value of the respective products.
Valuation and Impairment of Deferred Tax Assets. As part of the process of preparing our financial statements we estimate
our income tax expense and deferred income tax position. This process involves the estimation of our actual current tax exposure together
with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences
result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our balance sheet. We then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax
assets will be recovered from future taxable income. To the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation
allowance. Changes in the valuation allowance are reflected in the statement of operations.
Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes and any valuation allowances. We
have recorded a 100% valuation allowance against our deferred income tax assets. It is management's estimate that, after considering
all available objective evidence, historical and prospective, with greater weight given to historical evidence, it is more likely than not
that these assets will not be realized. If we establish a record of continuing profitability, at some point we will be required to reduce the
valuation allowance and recognize an equal income tax benefit which will increase net income in that period(s).
In December 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act (the “Tax Act”) that significantly revised the U.S. tax code effective January 1, 2018 by, among other things, lowering the corporate
income tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to a flat 21%.
As of December 31, 2019 the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $56,267,000 which are
available to offset future taxable income. They are due to expire in varying amounts from 2020 to 2038. Federal net operating losses
occurring after December 31, 2017, of approximated $3,138,000 may be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2019, the
Company had state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $11,350,000 which are available to offset future taxable income.
They are due to expire in varying amounts from 2031 through 2038. A valuation allowance has been established for the full amount of
deferred income tax assets as management has concluded that it is more-likely than-not that the benefits from such assets will not be
realized.
Sales Tax. The Company recorded a sales tax accrual in 2017 after the Company became aware that a state sales tax liability
was both probable and estimable as of December 31, 2017. The state sales tax liability stems from the Company’s ‘Fulfilled By Amazon’
sales agreement which allows Amazon to warehouse the Company’s inventory throughout a number of states. As a result, the Company
recorded an expense of approximately $831 thousand in during the year ended December 31, 2017. During the year 2018, the Company
settled its obligations with most of the states and re-assessed its liability on the last couple of states which resulted in a reduction of
approximately $203 thousand in the sales tax liability. As of December 31, 2018, approximately $86 thousand of the original state sales
tax liability remains and $133 thousand relates to sales tax that has been collected and not yet remitted to the respective states. As of
December 31, 2019, approximately $51 thousand of the original state sales tax liability remains and $98 thousand relates to sales tax
that has been collected and not yet remitted to the respective states.
Results of Operations
Zoom’s net sales of $37.6 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (“FY 2019”) were up 16.4% from $32.3 million
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 (“FY 2018”). Zoom reported a net loss of $3.3 million or $0.18 per share for FY 2019
compared to a net loss of $74 thousand or $0.00 per share for FY 2018. Gross profit was $10.9 million for FY 2019, down $0.7 million
from $11.6 million for FY 2018. Gross margin decreased to 29.0% in FY 2019 from 36.0% in FY 2018.
The following table sets forth certain financial data as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated.
Years Ended December 31,
2018

Net sales

100.0%
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2019

100.0%

Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Operating expense:
Selling
General and administration
Research and development
Total operating expenses
Operating profit (loss)
Total other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (benefit)

64.0
36.0

71.0
29.0

25.3
5.1
5.5
35.9
0.2
(0.3)
(0.1)
0.1

24.5
7.1
5.9
37.6
(8.6)
(0.1)
(8.6)
0.1

Net income (loss)

(0.2)%

(8.7)%

Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2018
The following is a discussion of the major categories of our consolidated statement of operations, comparing the consolidated
financial results for the year ended December 31, 2019 with the year ended December 31, 2018.
Net Sales. Our total net sales increased year-over-year by $5.3 million or 16.4%. The growth in sales is directly attributable to
Motorola branded cable modems and gateways. In both 2019 and 2018, we primarily generated our sales by selling broadband modems
and modem routers. The increase in other category of $0.6 million over 2018 is primarily due to new product introductions of cell
modems, and DSL products.
Zoom focuses on maintaining appropriate inventory levels. We have also reviewed our obsolete inventory reserve. Zoom
determines its inventory reserve for obsolete and slow-moving products by reviewing for each Zoom product its past and forecasted
sales, open sales orders, customer inventory levels, planned product changes, and anticipated price drops. Zoom takes a reserve if this
data suggests that Zoom is likely to need to sell a product's inventory below its current inventory cost in order to sell the product’s entire
inventory within the next 12 months.

Cable Modems & gateways
Other
Total

FY 2019

FY 2018

$ 33,810,410
3,804,046
$ 37,614,456

$ 29,135,155
3,188,328
$ 32,323,483

Change $
$
$

4,675,255
615,718
5,290,973

Change %
16.1%
19.3%
16.4%

As shown in the table below, our net sales in North America increased $5.1 million to $36.7 million in FY 2019 from $31.7
million in FY 2018. Net sales outside North America increased $237 thousand from FY 2018. Generally Zoom’s lower sales outside
North America reflect the fact that cable modems are sold successfully through retailers in the US but not in most countries outside the
US, due primarily to variations in government regulations.

North America
Outside North America
Total

FY 2019

FY 2018

$ 36,741,262
873,194
$ 37,614,456

$ 31,687,051
636,432
$ 32,323,483

Change $
$
$

5,054,211
236,762
5,290,973

Change %
16.0%
37.2%
16.4%

Relatively few companies account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. In 2019 two companies accounted for
10% or greater individually, and 84% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2019 three companies with
an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater individually accounted for a combined 84% of the Company’s accounts receivable.
In 2018 two companies accounted for 10% or greater individually, and 78% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At
December 31, 2018, four companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater individually accounted for a combined 79%
of the Company’s accounts receivable.
Our customers generally do not enter into long-term agreements obligating them to purchase our products. Because of our
significant customer concentration, our net sales and operating income could fluctuate significantly due to changes in political or
economic conditions or the loss of, reduction of business with, or less favorable terms for any of our significant customers. A reduction
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or delay in orders from any of our significant customers, or a delay or default in payment by any significant customer could materially
harm our business, results of operation and liquidity.
Gross Profit. Gross profit was $10.9 million for FY 2019, down $0.7 million from $11.6 million for FY 2017. Gross margin
decreased to 29.0% in FY 2019 from 36.0% in FY 2018. The decrease in both gross profit and margin was primarily due to tariff costs
of $3.2 million.
Operating Expense. Total operating expense increased by $2.5 million from $11.6 million in FY 2018 to $14.1 million in FY
2019. Total operating expense as a percentage of net sales increased from 35.9% in 2018 to 37.6% in 2019. The table below illustrates
the change in operating expense.

Operating Expense
Year 2019
Selling expense
$ 9,222,737
General and administrative expense
2,666,876
Research and development expense
2,237,416
Total operating expense
$ 14,127,029

% Net
Sales
24.5%
7.1%
5.9%
37.6%

Year 2018
$ 8,171,052
1,648,748
1,771,887
$ 11,591,687

% Net
Sales
25.3%
5.1%
5.5%
35.9%

Change $
$ 1,051,685
1,018,128
465,529
$ 2,535,342

Change %
12.8%
61.7%
26.2%
21.8%

Selling Expense. Selling expense increased to $9.2 million in FY 2019 from $8.2 million in FY 2018. Selling expense as a
percentage of net sales was 24.5% in FY 2019 and 25.3% in FY 2018. The $1.0 million increase in selling expense was due primarily
to increased Motorola trademark costs, and brick-and-mortar retailer marketing expenses, was partially offset by savings in advertising
costs.
General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense increased to $2.7 million in FY 2019 from $1.6
million in FY 2018. General and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales was 7.1% in FY 2019 and 5.1% in FY 2018. General
and administrative expenses increased approximately $1.0 million due to increased salary and related expenses, consulting, outside
service costs, and a one-time bad debt provision.
Research and Development Expense. Research and development expense increased to $2.2 million in FY 2019 from $1.8
million in FY 2018. Research and development expense as a percentage of net sales increased to 5.9% in FY 2019 from 5.5% in FY
2018. The increase of approximated $0.5 million was primarily due salary and related costs, and increased product testing, certification
and software development costs.
Other Income (Expense). Other income (expense), net was $(23) thousand in FY 2019 and $(101) thousand in FY 2018,
primarily due to loan related interest expense and fees for both years.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit). We recorded minimum state income tax for a few states and tax related to our operations in
Mexico, which was $32 thousand and $26 thousand in FY 2019 and FY 2018, respectively.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s cash balance on December 31, 2019 was $1.2 million compared to $126 thousand on December 31, 2018. On
December 31, 2019, the Company had no bank debt on an available asset-based credit line of $3.0 million, working capital of $5.4
million, and a current ratio of 1.7.
The Company closed on a $5 million private placement and issued an aggregate of 4,545,455 shares on May 3, 2019, and soon
after the closing of the offering Jeremy Hitchcock and Jonathan Seelig joined Zoom’s Board of Directors. Other major changes of cash
during 2019 were decreases of approximately $0.5 million in inventory and $0.6 million in prepaid expenses; and increases in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of approximated $1.1 million. Major items that decreased cash were a net loss of approximately $3.3
million, a reduction in debt of approximately $1.7 million, and an accounts receivable increase of approximately $1.3 million.
In May 2015, Zoom entered into a License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “License Agreement”). The License
Agreement provides Zoom with an exclusive license to use certain trademarks owned by Motorola Trademark Holdings, LLC. for the
manufacture, sale and marketing of consumer cable modem products in the United States and Canada through certain authorized sales
channels for five years starting January 2016 (the “License Agreement”).
In August 2016 Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the
“Amendment”). The Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized
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channels worldwide and expands the license from cable modems and gateways to also include consumer routers, WiFi range extenders,
home powerline network adapters, and access points. The License Agreement, as amended, has a five-year term beginning January 1,
2016 through December 31, 2020.
In August 2017 Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2017
Amendment”). The 2017 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized
channels worldwide, and expands the license from cable modems, gateways, consumer routers, WiFi range extenders, home powerline
network adapters, and access points to also include MoCa adapters, and cellular sensors.
In March 2020 Zoom entered into an amendment to extend the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC through
December 31, 2025. The 2020 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of
authorized channels worldwide, including Service Provider Channels.
In March 2020 Zoom entered into a License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC to sell consumer grade home security
and monitoring products and provide related services. The term is of this Agreement runs through December 31, 2025 and includes
minimum licensing payments beginning in 2021 and continuing through the remainder of the agreement term.
On December 18, 2012, the Company entered into a Financing Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (the “Financing
Agreement”). The Financing Agreement originally provided for up to $1.75 million of revolving credit, subject to a borrowing base
formula and other terms and conditions. The Financing Agreement continued until November 30, 2014 with automatic renewals from
year to year thereafter, unless sooner terminated by either party. The lender has the right to terminate the Financing Agreement at any
time on 60 days’ prior written notice. Borrowings are secured by all of the Company assets including intellectual property. The
Financing Agreement contains several covenants, including a requirement that the Company maintain tangible net worth of not less than
$2.5 million and working capital of not less than $2.5 million.
On March 25, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to the Financing Agreement (the “Amendment”) with an effective
date of January 1, 2013. The Amendment clarified the definition of current assets in the Financing Agreement, reduced the size of the
revolving credit line to $1.25 million, and revised the financial covenants so that Zoom is required to maintain tangible net worth of not
less than $2.0 million and working capital of not less than $1.75 million.
On October 29, 2015, the Company entered into a second amendment to the Financing Agreement (the “Second Amendment”).
Retroactive to October 1, 2015, the Second Amendment eliminated $2,500 in monthly charges for the Financing Agreement. Effective
December 1, 2015, the Second Amendment reduces the effective rate of interest to 2.25% plus an amount equal to the higher of prime
rate or 3.25%.
On July 19, 2016, the Company entered into a third amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment increased the
size of the revolving credit line to $2.5 million effective as of date of the amendment.
On September 1, 2016, the Company entered into a fourth amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment increased
the size of the revolving credit line to $3.0 million effective with the date of this amendment.
On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a fifth amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment reduced
the effective interest rate by 1 percentage point and reduced the annual facility fee by 0.25 percent.
The Company is required to calculate its covenant compliance on a quarterly basis and as of December 31, 2019, the Company
was in compliance with both its working capital and tangible net worth covenants. At December 31, 2019, the Company’s tangible net
worth was approximately $5.7 million, while the Company’s working capital was approximately $5.4 million. Loan availability is based
on certain eligible receivables. Approximate loan availability was approximately $3 million as of December 31, 2019.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
In 2006 the Company entered into a maquiladora agreement with North American Production Sharing, Inc (“NAPS”). This
agreement provides that NAPS provide certain personnel and other services for a production facility in Mexico on our behalf. In order
to facilitate Zoom’s current and planned increase in production demand, driven in part by the launch of Motorola branded products,
Zoom has entered into a first amendment to the Production Sharing Agreement (“PSA”). This amendment extends its existing agreement
through September 25, 2019. The agreement automatically reviews annually unless otherwise cancelled per provisions in the agreement.
Any related assets, liabilities, or expenses are reported in the accompanying financial statements. Additionally, the Company is obligated
to pay future minimum required royalty payments associated with certain licensing agreements which are not included in our balance
sheet.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not required.
ITEM 8 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC.
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ITEM 9 – CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None
ITEM 9A – CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Management’s Report on Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's
rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and our Acting Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, as ours are designed to do,
and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.
As of December 31, 2019 we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as of the end of the period covered by this report in enabling us to record, process, summarize and report information required to be
included in our periodic SEC filings within the required time period.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Judgments
by management are also required in evaluating the expected benefits and related costs of control procedures. The objectives of internal
control include providing management with reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from
unauthorized use or disposition, and that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and recorded
properly to permit the preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the US. Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019. In making
this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Our management has concluded that as of December 31, 2019, our
internal control over financial reporting is effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles. Our
management reviewed the results of their assessment with our Board of Directors.
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This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm
pursuant to a permanent exemption from the internal control audit requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Inherent limitations on effectiveness of controls
Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations which include but are not limited to the use of independent
professionals for advice and guidance, interpretation of existing and/or changing rules and principles, segregation of management duties,
scale of organization, and personnel factors. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and
compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting
also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis, however these inherent limitations are known features of
the financial reporting process and it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2019 that have materially or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART III
ITEM 10 – DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information required by this item appears under the caption "Our Executive Officers" in Part 1, Item 1 -- Business, and under
the captions "Election of Directors", "Board of Directors”, "Code of Ethics" and " Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Compliance " in
our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting of stockholders which will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the
close of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information required by this item appears under the captions "Executive Compensation," and "Directors' Compensation", in
our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting of stockholders that will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the
close of our fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12 – SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
We maintain a number of equity compensation plans for employees, officers, directors and others whose efforts contribute to
our success. The table below sets forth certain information as of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 regarding the shares of our
common stock available for grant or granted under stock option plans that (i) were approved by our stockholders.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information.

Number Of
Securities
To Be Issued
Upon Exercise
Of
Outstanding
Options

Plan Category

(a)
2,474,811
2,474,811

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (1) (2)
Total:

(1)

(2)

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
Of
Outstanding
Options

(b)
$
$

1.26
1.26

Number Of
Securities
Remaining
Available For
Future
Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation
Plans
(excluding sec
urities
reflected in col
umn (a))

(c)
4,135,000
4,135,000

Includes the 2009 Stock Option Plan and the 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan. These plans were approved by the
shareholders at the 2010 annual meeting. At the 2013 annual meeting, shareholders approved an increase to the total
number of shares available for issuance for the 2009 Stock Option Plan. The new number of shares is 5,500,000. At
the 2013 annual meeting, shareholders approved an increase to the total number of shares available for issuance for the
2009 Directors Stock Option Plan. The new number of shares is 700,000. The purposes of the 2009 Stock Option Plan
are to attract and retain employees and provide an incentive for them to assist us in achieving our long-range
performance goals, and to enable such employees to participate in our long-term growth. The purpose of the 2009
Directors Stock Option Plan is to attract and retain non-employee directors and to enable such directors to participate
in our long-term growth. The 2009 Stock Option Plan and the 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan are administered by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. All stock options granted under the 2009 Stock Option Plan
and the 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan have been granted with an exercise price equal to at least the fair market
value of the common stock on the date of grant.
Includes the 2019 Stock Option Plan with a total number of shares available for issuance of 4,000,000 and the 2019
Directors Stock Option Plan with a total number of shares available for issuance of 1,000,000. These plans were
approved by the shareholders at the 2019 annual meeting. The purpose of the 2019 Stock Option Plan are to attract
and retain employees and provide an incentive for them to assist us in achieving our long-range performance goals, and
to enable such employees to participate in our long-term growth. The purpose of the 2019 Directors Stock Option Plan
is to attract and retain non-employee directors and to enable such directors to participate in our long-term growth. The
2019 Stock Option Plan and the 2019 Directors Stock Option Plan are administered by the Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors. All stock options granted under the 2019 Stock Option Plan and the 2019 Directors Stock
Option Plan have been granted with an exercise price equal to at least the fair market value of the common stock on
the date of grant.

The additional information required by this Item 12 of Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference to the information in
our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2020 annual meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the close
of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13 – CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Any information required by this item may appear under the caption "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and “Board
of Directors” in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2020 annual meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days
after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14 – PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The firm of Marcum LLP served as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal years 2019 and 2018. The
table below shows the aggregate fees that the Company paid or accrued for the audit and other services provided by Marcum LLP for
the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:
FEE CATEGORY

2019

31

2018

Audit fees (1)
Audit-related fees (2)
Total fees

$
$

187,200
10,000
197,200

$
$

169,060
––
169,060

———————
(1) Audit Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of Zoom’s consolidated financial statements
and review of the interim consolidated financial statements included in quarterly reports and services that are normally provided
in connection with statutory filings and engagements.
(2) Audit-Related Fees. Consists of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the
audit or review of Zoom’s consolidated financial statements and are not reported under "Audit Fees." For 2019, fees are related to
a private placement.
All services rendered by Marcum LLP for fiscal years 2018 and 2019 were permissible under applicable laws and regulations and were
pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

PART IV
ITEM 15 – EXHIBITS AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES *
(a)

Consolidated Financial Statements, Schedules and Exhibits:
(1),(2)

The consolidated financial statements and required schedules are indexed on page F-1.

(3)

Exhibits required by the Exhibit Table of Item 601 of SEC Regulation S-K. (Exhibit numbers refer to numbers in
the Exhibit Table of Item 601.)

2.1

Separation and Distribution Agreement by and between Zoom Technologies, Inc. and Zoom Telephonics, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to annex B of the preliminary proxy statement filed by Zoom Technologies, Inc. on
May 13, 2009).*1

3.1

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to Zoom Telephonics, Inc. Registration Statement on Form 10, filed on September 4, 2009). *

3.2

Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zoom Telephonics, Inc.
(incorporated by the reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on November 18, 2015)*

3.3

Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zoom Telephonics, Inc.
(incorporated by the reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on July 30, 2019)*

3.4

Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.2 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on November 18, 2015)*

3.5

By-Laws of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (incorporated by referenced to Exhibit 3.2 to Zoom Telephonics, Inc.
Registration Statement on Form 10 filed by the Company on September 4, 2009).*

4.1

Description of Securities.

10.1**

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2009 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Definitive
Proxy Statement filed by the Company on April 30, 2013).*

10.2**

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the
Definitive Proxy Statement filed by the Company on April 30, 2013).*
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10.3**

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2019 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix D to the Definitive
Proxy Statement filed by the Company on May 28, 2019).*

10.4**

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2019 Directors Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the
Definitive Proxy Statement filed by the Company on May 28, 2019).*

10.5**

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. 2009 Directors Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the
Definitive Proxy Statement filed by the Company on April 30, 2013).*

10.6

Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 21, 2012)*

10.7

Intellectual Property Security Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal
& Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on December 21,
2012)*

10.8

Amendment dated March 25, 2014, effective January 1, 2013 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012,
between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosehthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Form 8-K filed by the Company on November 3, 2015)*

10.9

Amendment dated October 29, 2015, effective January 1, 2013, to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012,
between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Form 8-K filed by the Company on November 3, 2015)*

10.10

Amendment dated July 19, 2016 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom Telephonics,
Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company
on July 25, 2016)*

10.11

Amendment dated September 1, 2016 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom
Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed
by the Company on September 8, 2016)*

10.12†

License Agreement, dated May 13, 2015, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Motorola Mobility LLC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-Q/A filed by the Company on December 6, 2016)*

10.13†

Amendment to License Agreement, dated August 16, 2016, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Motorola Mobility
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form 10-Q/A filed by the Company on December 6, 2016)*

10.14†

Amendment to License Agreement, dated August 21, 2017, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Motorola Mobility
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 10-Q filed by the Company on November 9, 2017)*

10.15

Amendment dated November 2, 2018 to Financing Agreement, dated December 18, 2012, between Zoom
Telephonics, Inc. and Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed by the Company on June 7, 2019)

10.16**

Employment Agreement between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Joseph Wytanis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on October 18, 2018)*

10.17

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2019, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and the Investors listed therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on May 6, 2019)*

10.18**

Employment Agreement between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed by the Company on March 9, 2020)*

10.19***††† License Agreement, dated March 27, 2020, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc., MTRLC LLC and Motorola Mobility
LLC
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10.20***††† Amendment to License Agreement, dated March 27, 2020, between Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and Motorola Mobility
LLC
21.1***

Subsidiaries

23.1***

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Consent

31.1***

CEO and CFO Certification, Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1††

CEO and CFO Certification, Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS*** XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

(b)

*

In accordance with Rule 12b-32 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, reference is made to the
documents previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, which documents are hereby incorporated by
reference.

**

Compensation Plan or Arrangement.

***

Filed herewith.

†

Confidential portions of this exhibit have been redacted and filed separately with the SEC pursuant to a confidential
treatment request in accordance with Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

††

This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or
otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under
the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

†††

Certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted because the identified confidential portions (i) are not material
and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.
Exhibits - See Item 15 (a) (3) above for a list of Exhibits incorporated herein by reference or filed with this Report.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: April 14, 2020

By: /s/ JOSEPH L. WYTANIS
Joseph L. Wytanis, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Joseph L. Wytanis
Joseph L. Wytanis

President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

/s/ Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton
Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

April 14, 2020

/s/ Jeremy Hitchcock
Jeremy Hitchcock

Chairman of the Board

April 14, 2020

/s/ Joseph Donovan
Joseph Donovan

Director

April 14, 2020

/s/ Philip Frank
Philip Frank

Director

April 14, 2020

/s/ Peter Kramer
Peter Kramer

Director

April 14, 2020

/s/ Frank B. Manning
Frank B. Manning

Director

April 14, 2020

/s/ Jonathan Seelig
Jonathan Seelig

Director

April 14, 2020

/s/ Peter Sykes
Peter Sykes

Director

April 14, 2020

April 14, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
Zoom Telephonics, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 2019 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”).
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2009; such date takes into account the acquisition of a portion of UHY LLP by
Marcum LLP in April 2010.
Boston, MA
April 14, 2020
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ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018
December 31,
2019

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deposits on inventory purchases
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

$

Equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank credit line
Accounts payable
Operating lease liabilities
Accrued other expenses
Total current liabilities

1,216,893
150,000
4,070,576
7,440,350
1,830
267,908
13,147,557

2018

$

125,982
––
2,760,606
7,927,678
723,639
194,946
11,732,851

303,099
102,716
349,335

261,476
––
222,160

$ 13,902,707

$ 12,216,487

$

––
5,024,529
102,716
2,666,471
7,793,716

$

1,741,272
4,369,309
––
2,229,561
8,340,142

Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)

Stockholders' equity
Common stock: Authorized: 40,000,000 shares at $0.01 par value
Issued and outstanding: 20,929,928 shares and 16,124,681 shares at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

209,299
161,247
46,496,330
41,035,936
(40,596,638) (37,320,838)
6,108,991
3,876,345
$ 13,902,707 $ 12,216,487

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

2019

2018

$ 37,614,456
26,708,653
10,905,803

$ 32,323,482
20,679,116
11,644,366

9,222,737
2,666,876
2,237,416
14,127,029

8,171,052
1,648,748
1,771,887
11,591,687

Operating expenses:
Selling
General and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses
Operating profit (loss)

(3,221,226)

Other :
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes

13,975
(48,404)
4,720
(29,709)

285
(78,396)
(23,047)
(101,158)

(3,250,935)

(48,479)

24,865

Net income (loss)

$ (3,275,800) $

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share

$

Weighted average common and common equivalent shares:
Basic and Diluted

(0.18) $

18,051,070

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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52,679

25,798
(74,277)
(0.00)

15,956,785

ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Common Stock

Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Total

$ 3,171,586

Balance at January 1, 2018

15,286,540

$ 152,865

$ 40,265,282

$ (37,246,561)

Net income (loss)
Stock option exercise
Stock based compensation
Balance at December 31, 2018

––
838,141
––
16,124,681

––
8,382
––
$ 161,247

––
370,875
399,779
$ 41,035,936

(74,277)
––
$ (37,320,838)

(74,277)
379,257
399,779
$ 3,876,345

––

––

––

(3,275,800)

(3,275,800)

4,545,455
259,792
––
20,929,928

45,454
2,598
––
$ 209,299

4,897,156
58,050
505,188
$ 46,496,330

Net income (loss)
Private investment offering,
net of expenses of $57,391
Stock option exercise
Stock based compensation
Balance at December 31, 2019

––
$ (40,596,638)

4,942,610
60,648
505,188
$ 6,108,991

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
2019

Operating activities:
Net income (loss)

2018

$ (3,275,800) $

(74,277)

505,188
315,456
292,849
264,808
18,988

399,779
365,076
––
(1,080)
(77,698)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Stock based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Provision for (recovery of) for accounts receivable allowances
Provision for (recovery of) for inventory reserves
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expense and other current assets
Operating lease liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(1,574,778)
468,340
648,847
(318,183)
1,117,464
(1,536,821)

(530,014)
(2,647,677)
(305,739)
––
1,068,035
(1,803,595)

Investing activities:
Purchases of plant and equipment
Certification costs incurred and capitalized
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

(174,254)
(310,000)
(484,254)

(236,910)
(93,000)
(329,910)

Financing activities:
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Net proceeds from private placement offering
Net proceeds from (payments to) bank credit lines
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

60,648
4,942,610
(1,741,272)
3,261,986

Net change in cash

379,257
––
1,651,012
2,030,269

1,240,911

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash- Beginning

(103,236)

125,982

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash- Ending

229,218

$ 1,366,893

$

125,982

$
$

48,404
31,769

$
$

78,396
25,798

$ 1,216,893
150,000
$ 1,366,893

$

125,982
––
125,982

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes
Cash is reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total Cash

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
(1)

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Zoom Telephonics, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary MTRLC LLC (collectively the "Company"), designs,
produces, markets and supports cable modems and other communication products.

(2)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (U.S. GAAP). All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the
consolidation.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the
reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates. Significant estimates made by the Company include: 1)
allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivable (collectability); 2) contract liabilities (sales returns, and other variable
considerations); 3) asset valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets; 4) write-downs of inventory for slow-moving and
obsolete items, and market valuations; 5) stock based compensation; 6) management’s assessment of going concern; 7) and
estimated life of certification costs.
(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than 90 days from the date of purchase are classified as
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist exclusively of money market funds. The Company has deposits at a limited number
of financial institutions with federally insured limits. Balances of cash and cash equivalents at these institutions can be in excess
of the insured limits. However, the Company believes that the institutions are financially sound and there is only nominal risk
of loss.
(c) Restricted Cash
All cash held by the Company that is not immediately available for working capital purposes or has restrictions on
use is reported as Restricted cash in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Restricted cash balance at December 31,
2019 was $150,000 and is a Letter of Credit to support bond on tariffs. Restricted cash balance at December 31, 2018 was $0.
(d) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined using the first-in, first-out method, or net realizable value.
Consigned inventory is held at third-party locations. The Company retains title to the inventory until purchased by the thirdparty. Consigned inventory, consisting of finished goods, was approximately $1,841,400 and $1,537,300 at December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively.
(e) Equipment
Equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of equipment is provided using the straightline method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
(f) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset or asset
group to undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. If such assets are considered

to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds
their fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.
(g) Other Assets
Other assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization. Certain certification costs incurred that are necessary to
market and sell products are capitalized and reported as “other assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets when
the costs are measurable, significant, and relating to products that are projected to generate revenue beyond twelve months.
These costs are amortized over an eighteen-month period, beginning when the related products are available to be sold. Total
certification costs capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2019 were $310,000, with related amortization expense of
$128,385 in 2019.Total certification costs capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2018 were $93,000, with related
amortization expense of $208,068 in 2018.
(h) Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are provided on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and on net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided
for that portion of deferred tax assets not expected to be realized.
(i) Sales Tax
The Company recorded a sales tax accrual in 2017 after the Company became aware that a state sales tax liability was both
probable and estimable as of December 31, 2017. The state sales tax liability stems from the Company’s ‘Fulfilled By Amazon’
sales agreement which allows Amazon to warehouse the Company’s inventory throughout a number of states. As a result, the
Company recorded an expense of approximately $831 thousand in during the year ended December 31, 2017. During the year
2018, the Company settled its obligations with most of the states and re-assessed its liability which resulted in a reduction of
approximately $203 thousand in the sales tax liability. As of December 31, 2018, approximately $86 thousand of the original
state sales tax liability remains and $133 thousand relates to sales tax that has been collected and not yet remitted to the
respective states. As of December 31, 2019, approximately $51 thousand of the original state sales tax liability remains and
$98 thousand relates to sales tax that has been collected and not yet remitted to the respective states.

(j) Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares, except for periods with a loss from operations. Diluted earnings (loss) per share
reflects additional common shares that would have been outstanding if dilutive potential shares of common stock had been
issued. Potential shares of common stock that may be issued by the Company include shares of common stock that may be
issued upon exercise of outstanding stock options. Under the treasury stock method, the unexercised options are assumed to be
exercised at the beginning of the period or at issuance, if later. The assumed proceeds are then used to purchase shares of
common stock at the average market price during the period.
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 exclude the effects of
467,641 and 732,772 common share equivalents, respectively, since such inclusion would be anti-dilutive. The common share
equivalents consist of common shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options.
(k) Revenue Recognition
The Company primarily sells hardware products to its customers. The hardware products include cable modems,
mobile broadband modems, DSL modems, dial-up modems and wireless and wired networking equipment. The Company does
not sell software.
The Company derives its net sales primarily from the sales of hardware products to computer peripherals retailers,
computer product distributors, OEMs, and direct to consumers and other channel partners via the Internet. The Company
accounts for point-of-sale taxes on a net basis.

Revenue recognition is evaluated through the following five steps: (i) identification of the contract, or contracts, with
a customer; (ii) identification of the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determination of the transaction price; (iv)
allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognition of revenue when or as a
performance obligation is satisfied.
● Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer — a contract with a customer exists when the Company
enters into an enforceable contract with a customer, typically a purchase order initiated by the customer, that defines each
party’s rights regarding the goods to be transferred, identifies the payment terms related to these goods, and that the
customer has both the ability and intent to pay.
● Identification of the performance obligations in the contract — performance obligations promised in a contract are
identified based on the goods that will be transferred to the customer that are distinct, whereby the customer can benefit
from the goods on their own or together with other resources that are readily available from third parties or from us.
● Determination of the transaction price — the transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which the
Company will be entitled in exchange for transferring goods to the customer. This would be the agreed upon quantity and
price per product type in accordance with the customer purchase order, which is aligned with the Company’s internally
approved pricing guidelines.
● Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract — if the contract contains a single
performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance obligation. This applies to the
Company as there is only one performance obligation, which is to provide the goods.
● Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation — the Company satisfies
performance obligations at a point in time when control of the goods transfers to the customer. Determining the point in
time when control transfers requires judgment. Indicators considered in determining whether the customer has obtained
control of a good include:
● The Company has a present right to payment
● The customer has legal title to the goods
● The Company has transferred physical possession of the goods
● The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
● The customer has accepted the goods
The Company has concluded that transfer of control substantively transfers to the customer upon shipment or
delivery, depending on the delivery terms of the purchase agreement.
Other considerations of Topic 606 include the following:
● Warranties - the Company does not allow customers to purchase a warranty separately. Therefore, there is not a separate
performance obligation. The Company does account for warranties as a cost accrual and the warranties do not include
any additional distinct services other than the assurance that the goods comply with agreed-upon specifications.
Warranties are variable and under Topic 606 are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance
obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). The estimates due to warranties are historically not material.
● Returned Goods - analyses of actual returned product are compared to that of the product return estimates and
historically have resulted in no material difference between the two. The Company has concluded that the current process
of estimating the return reserve represents a fair measure with which to adjust revenue. Returned goods are variable and
under Topic 606 are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as performance obligations are satisfied (e.g.
upon shipment of goods). Under implementation of Topic 606, the Company monitors pending authorized returns of
goods and, if deemed appropriate, record the right of return asset accordingly.
● Price protection - price protection provides that if the Company reduces the price on any products sold to the customer,
the Company will guarantee an account credit for the price difference for all quantities of that product that the customer
still holds. Price protection is variable and under Topic 606 are estimated and recognized as a reduction of revenue as
performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). The estimates due to price protection are historically
not material.
● Volume Rebates and Promotion Programs - volume rebates are variable dependent upon the volume of goods soldthrough the Company’s customers to end users variable and under Topic 606 are estimated and recognized as a reduction

of revenue as performance obligations are satisfied (e.g. upon shipment of goods). The estimates due to rebates and
promotions are historically not material.

Accounts receivable, net:
December 31,
2019
$
4,346,810
(276,234)
$
4,070,576

Gross accounts receivable
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Total accounts receivable, net

December 31,
2018
$ 2,774,619
(14,013)
$ 2,760,606

Accrued other expenses:

Audit, legal, payroll
Royalty costs
Sales allowances*
Sales and use tax
Other
Total accrued other expenses

$

$

December 31,
December 31,
2019
2018
256,966 $
234,119
1,125,000
875,000
901,196
611,719
148,836
219,286
234,473
289,437
2,666,471 $
2,229,561

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------* A related inventory contract asset stemming from the sales return reserve of $376 thousand and $318 thousand is included
within inventories on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Company revenues are primarily from the selling of products that are shipped and billed. Consistent with the revenue
recognition accounting standard, revenues are recognized when control is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects
the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods and services. Sales are earned at a point
in time through ship-and-bill performance obligations.
Regarding disaggregated revenue disclosures, as previously noted, the Company’s business is controlled as a single
operating segment that consists of the manufacture and sale of Internet access and other communications-related products.
Most of the Company’s transactions are very similar in nature, contract, terms, timing, and transfer of control of goods.

Disaggregated revenue by distribution channel:

Retailers
Distributors
Other
Total

Year 2019

Year 2018

$ 35,164,563
1,309,875
1,140,018
$ 37,614,456

$ 29,166,422
1,730,702
1,426,359
$ 32,323,483

Year 2019

Year 2018

$ 33,810,410
3,804,046

$ 29,135,155
3,188,328

Disaggregated revenue by product:

Cable Modems & gateways
Other

Total

$ 37,614,456

$ 32,323,483

Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms of a contract with customers are satisfied. Revenue is
measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring the products. Based on
the nature of the Company’s products and customer contracts, the Company has not recorded any deferred revenue. Any
agreements with customers that could impact revenue such as rebates or promotions are recognized in the period of agreement.

(l) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad
levels:
•
•
•

Level 1 - Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Company has the ability to access.
Level 2 - Inputs are inputs (other than quoted prices included within Level 1) that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 - Inputs include unobservable inputs for the asset or liability and rely on management's own
assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. (The
unobservable inputs should be developed based on the best information available in the circumstances and may
include the Company’s own data.)

Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, bank debt, and accounts payable. Due
to the short-term nature and payment terms associated with these instruments, their carrying amounts approximate fair value.
(m)

Stock-Based Compensation

Compensation cost for awards is generally recognized over the required service period based on the estimated fair
value of the awards on their grant date. Fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model wherein the
discount rate is based on published daily treasury interest rates for zero-coupon bonds available from the US Treasury.
Volatility is based on the historical volatility over a period that is commensurate with the expected life of the option granted.
(n) Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and reported in selling expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations, and include costs of advertising, production, trade shows, and other activities designed to enhance
demand for the Company's products. The Company reported advertising costs of approximately $2.73 million in 2019 and
$2.76 million in 2018.
(o) Foreign Currencies
The Company generates a portion of its revenues in markets outside North America principally in transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, which exposes the Company to risks of foreign currency fluctuations. Foreign currency
transaction gains and losses are reflected in operations and were not material for any period presented. The Company does not
use derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes.
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(p) Warranty Costs
The Company provides for the estimated costs that may be incurred under its standard warranty obligations, based on
actual historical repair costs. The reserve for the provision for warranty costs was $37718 and $31,852 at December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively.
(q) Shipping and Freight Costs
The Company records the expense associated with customer-delivery shipping and freight costs in selling expense.
The Company reported shipping and freight costs of $301.3 thousand in 2019 and $356.6 thousand in 2018.

(r) Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting standards Update (“ASU”)
2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)”, which requires lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets as a right-of-use asset
with a corresponding lease liability. Lessor accounting under the standard is substantially unchanged. Additional qualitative
and quantitative disclosures are also required. The Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2019 using the alternative
transition approach, which required the Company to apply the new lease standard to (i) all new lease contracts entered into
after January 1, 2019 and (ii) all existing lease contracts as of January 1, 2019 through a cumulative adjustment to retained
earnings.
Adoption of this standard resulted in the recognition of operating lease right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities of $396 thousand and $421 thousand, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2019. The
standard did not materially impact operating results or liquidity. Disclosures related to the amount, timing and uncertainty of
cash flows arising from leases are included in Note 6(a), Lease obligations.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718) —
Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 expands the scope of Topic 718 to include
share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. An entity should apply the
requirements of Topic 718 to nonemployee awards except for specific guidance on inputs to an option pricing model and the
attribution of cost. ASU 2018-07 specifies that Topic 718 applies to all share-based payment transactions in which a grantor
acquires goods or services to be used or consumed in a grantor's own operations by issuing share-based payment awards, and
that Topic 718 does not apply to share-based payments used to effectively provide (1) financing to the issuer or (2) awards
granted in conjunction with selling goods or services to customers as part of a contract accounted for under Topic 606, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2018-07 is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2018, including interim periods within that fiscal year. The Company adopted this standard effective January 1, 2019. The
adoption of this standard was not material to our consolidated financial statements.

(s) Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
No. 2016-13, "Financial Instruments Credit Losses —Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments." ASU 2016-13
requires a financial asset (or group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount
expected to be collected, which includes the Company’s accounts receivable. This ASU is effective for the Company for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is currently assessing the potential impact that the adoption
of this ASU will have on our consolidated financial statements.

(t) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
On July 25, 2019, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of the Company which increased the number of authorized common shares from 25,000,000 to 40,000,000.

(3)

LIQUIDITY

The Company’s cash balance on December 31, 2019 was $1.2 million compared to $126 thousand on December 31,
2018. On December 31, 2019, the Company had no bank debt on an available asset-based credit line of $3.0 million, working
capital of $5.4 million, and a current ratio of 1.7.
The Company closed on a $5 million private placement and issued an aggregate of 4,545,455 shares on May 3, 2019,
and soon after the closing of the offering Jeremy Hitchcock and Jonathan Seelig joined Zoom’s Board of Directors.
The Company’s net losses of $3.3 million in 2019 and $74k in 2018, along with cash used in operations of $1.5 million
in 2019 and $1.8 million in 2018 have raised management concerns as to the Company’s ability to continue as going concern.
Adding to that is recent impact of COVID-19 and its potential disruptions to the Company’s operations.
The 25% US tariffs assessed on products imported from China had a significant impact on cash and net loss for 2019.

These tariffs will continue to have an impact on our financial performance until we have fully transitioned all of our production
supply out of China. In late 2019, we made the decision to move our outsourced manufacturing operations from China to
Vietnam, primarily to end the exposure to the trade-war imposed tariffs with China. While the COVID-19 outbreak caused
delays in the original transition plan, we are actively working with our primary outsourced development partner to establish
manufacturing operations in Haiphong, Vietnam. The transition to Vietnam has begun, we have reached full production in
Vietnam on one of our top models and expect to have all manufacturing of existing models fully transitioned to Vietnam by
the end of June 2020. This will save the company approximately $500,000 per month in tariff cost, plus release an additional
$800,000 in restricted cash over the next year related to performance bonds required to be posted related to the tariffs. The
company is also further diversifying its relationships with outsourced manufacturers. Zoom signed an agreement with
[Foxconn], one of the leading global outsourced manufacturers to the high-tech industry, to manufacture several of the new
models the company plans to introduce to the market during 2020.
The Company has implemented cost cutting measures to conserve cash, put a hold on all new hiring during 2020, and
has given notice that we will not renew the same footprint of our headquarters office lease when it expires in June 2020,
retaining just a few offices in our current co-work space office suite for research and testing purposes. Our work force continues
to work remotely, and we are continuing operations. We have negotiated improved payment terms with our primary outsourced
manufacturing partner. The Company has been approved by Rosenthal & Rosenthal for an expansion of our revolving working
capital line of credit from $3 to $4 million. We signed an extension of our networking product license agreement with Motorola
through 2025 and we also signed a new license agreement with Motorola to sell consumer grade home security and monitoring
products and to provide related services, We continue to develop new products and are on track to introduce several new
models to the market during 2020 and 2021. While the COVID-19 outbreak disrupted sales and production for a short period
of time during mid-March 2020, we worked through the disruption. In mid-March, sales initially decreased in response to a
key distributor focusing its distribution logistics on essential healthcare products. Our products, which are instrumental to
businesses and consumers establishing remote and home-based offices, have since been designated as essential and are once
again being offered and are selling at normal levels and certain models are currently selling above their average run rates before
COVID-19 had a global impact on business and the economy. We continue to work closely with our manufacturing partners
and our distributors to ensure that our products remain consistently available for sale to end-users. Our sales throughout the
first quarter of 2020 were tracking higher the level booked in the fourth quarter of 2019 except for the short-term reduction we
experienced in the middle of March.
The current environment is difficult, but with the steps the Company has taken and continues to take, as noted above,
management expects to maintain acceptable levels of liquidity to meet its obligations as they become due and for at least
twelve months from the date of issuance of the Company’s filing of this Annual Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, thus mitigating substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern during this time.

(4)

INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following at December 31:

Materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Total

2019

2018

911,054
10,284
6,519,012
$ 7,440,350

$ 2,043,843
121,624
5,762,211
$ 7,927,678

$

Finished goods includes consigned inventory held by our customers of $1,841,400 and $1,537,300 at December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company reviews inventory for obsolete and slow moving products each quarter and makes
provisions based on its estimate of the probability that the material will not be consumed or that it will be sold below cost. The
provision for inventory reserves was negligible for the both year ended December 31, 2019 and year ended December 31, 2018.

(5)

EQUIPMENT
Equipment consists of the following at December 31:

2019

2018

Estimated
Useful lives
in years

Computer hardware and software
Machinery and equipment
Molds, tools and dies
Office furniture and fixtures
Accumulated depreciation
Equipment, net

308,767 $ 261,863
316,945
300,441
651,063
551,162
50,948
40,001
1,327,722
1,153,467
(1,024,623)
(891,991)
$ 303,099 $ 261,476

Depreciation expense for the year ended

$

(6)

$

132,632

$

3
5
5
5

137,008

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Lease Obligations
In June 2016 the Company signed a three-year sub-lease agreement for 11,480 square feet on the 28th floor of 99 High
Street, Boston, MA 02110. The lease for this facility expired on June 30, 2019. The Company signed a twelve-month lease
agreement for offices at 225 Franklin Street, Boston, MA and completed the move to this location on June 28, 2019. The lease
has an automatic renewal option provision and renews unless cancelled under the terms of the agreement. The lease for these
offices expires on June 30, 2020. The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease exception under ASC 842 which does
not require the recognition of an operating lease liability or right-of-use asset on the condensed consolidated balance sheet in
relation to the lease at 225 Franklin Street. Rent expense was $558.2 thousand in 2019 and $423.5 thousand in 2018.
The Company performs most of the final assembly, testing, packaging, warehousing and distribution at a production
and warehouse facility in Tijuana, Mexico. In November 2014 we signed a one-year lease with five one-year renewal options
thereafter for an 11,390 square foot facility in Tijuana, Mexico. In September 2015, Zoom extended the term of the lease from
December 1, 2015 through November 30, 2018. In September 2015, Zoom also signed a new lease for additional space in the
adjacent building, which doubled our capacity. The term of this lease was from March 1, 2016 through November 30, 2018.
The Company currently has signed a lease extension to stay in the existing facilities through at least November 30, 2020. Rent
expense was $106.2 thousand in 2019 and $106.2 thousand in 2018.
The Company also has a lease for approximately 1,550 square feet in Boston, MA that expired on October 31, 2019
and has been renewed for an additional 12 month starting November 1, 2019. The Company has another one-year lease signed
in December 2019 for approximately 1,500 square feet in Boston The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease
exception for both of these leases under ASC 842 which does not require the recognition of an operating lease liability or rightof-use asset on the condensed consolidated balance sheet in relation to this lease. Rent expense for these leases was
approximately $74.9 thousand in 2019 and approximately $18 thousand in 2018.
At inception of a lease the Company determines whether that lease meets the classification criteria of a finance or
operating lease. Some of the Company’s lease arrangements contain lease components (e.g. minimum rent payments) and nonlease components (e.g. maintenance, labor charges, etc.). The Company generally accounts for each component separately
based on the estimated standalone price of each component.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company's estimated future minimum committed rental payments, excluding executory
costs, under the operating leases described above to their expiration or the earliest possible termination date, whichever is
sooner, are $452 thousand for 2020. There are no future minimum committed rental payments that extend beyond 2020.
Operating Leases
Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets, operating lease liabilities, and long-term operating
lease liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. These assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement
date based on the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term using the Company’s secured incremental
borrowing rates or implicit rates, when readily determinable. Based on the Company's financial position and ability to obtain
financing at the time ASC 842 was adopted, 10% was considered by management to be a reasonable incremental borrowing
rate when calculating the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term. Short-term operating leases, which
have an initial term of 12 months or less, are not recorded on the balance sheet.

Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease expense is included
in general and administrative expenses on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
The following table presents information about the amount and timing of the Company’s operating leases as of
December 31, 2019.
December 31, 2019
Maturity of Lease Liabilities
2020
Less: Imputed interest

$

Lease Payments
106,226
(3,510)

Present value of operating lease liabilities

$

102,716

Balance Sheet Classification
Operating lease liabilities

$

102,716

Other Information
Weighted-average remaining lease term for operating leases
Weighted-average discount rate for operating leases

1.00
10.0%

Cash Flows
Upon adoption of the new lease standard, the Company recorded a lease liability in the amount of $420,899, right-ofuse assets of $395,565, and reclassified deferred rent of $25,334 as a reduction of the right-of-use assets. During the year-ended
December 31, 2019, the operating lease liability was reduced by $318,183 and we recorded amortization of our right-of-use
assets of $292,849.
Supplemental cash flow information and non-cash activity related to our operating leases are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2019
Operating cash flow information:
Amounts included in measurement of lease liabilities
Non-cash activities:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations

2018

$

324,346

$

––

$

395,565

$

––

(b) Contingencies
The Company is party to various lawsuits and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
The Company evaluates such lawsuits and proceedings on a case-by-case basis, and its policy is to vigorously contest any such
claims which it believes are without merit.
The Company reviews the status of its legal proceedings and records a provision for a liability when it is considered
probable that both a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. This review is updated
periodically as additional information becomes available. If either or both of the criteria are not met, the Company reassesses
whether there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss, or additional losses, may be incurred. If there is a reasonable
possibility that a loss may be incurred, the Company discloses the estimate of the amount of the loss or range of losses, that the
amount is not material, or that an estimate of the loss cannot be made. The Company expenses its legal fees as incurred.
On January 23, 2020, William Schulze filed a complaint (the “Schulze Complaint”) as lead plaintiff on behalf of
purchasers of Zoom modems in a putative class action lawsuit against Zoom in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Massachusetts. The Schulze Complaint alleges that Zoom modems were sold as new despite containing refurbished parts. The
plaintiff has recently obtained leave to file an amended complaint. Zoom intends to vigorously defend itself against these
claims.

The Company does not have any other pending or outstanding legal proceedings beyond that referenced above.
(c) Commitments
In May 2015 Zoom entered into a License F-12 Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “License
Agreement”). The License Agreement provides Zoom with an exclusive license to use certain trademarks owned by Motorola
Trademark Holdings, LLC. for the manufacture, sale and marketing of consumer cable modem products in the United States
and Canada through certain authorized sales channels.
In August 2016 Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2016
Amendment”). The 2016 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of
authorized channels worldwide, and expands the license from cable modems and gateways to also include consumer routers,
WiFi range extenders, home powerline network adapters, and access points.
In August 2017 Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2017
Amendment”). The 2017 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of
authorized channels worldwide, and expands the license from cable modems, gateways, consumer routers, WiFi range
extenders, home powerline network adapters, and access points to also include MoCa adapters, and cellular sensors. The
License Agreement, as amended, has a five-year term beginning January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2020 and increased
the minimum royalty payments as outlined below.
In March 2020 Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC. The 2020
Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of authorized channels
worldwide, including Service Provider Channels. The License Agreement, as amended, has a ten-year term beginning January
1, 2016 through December 31, 2025 and modified the minimum royalty payments as outlined below.
In connection with the License Agreement, the Company has committed to reserve a certain percentage of wholesale
prices for use in advertising, merchandising and promotion of the related products. Additionally, the Company is required to
make quarterly royalty payments equal to a certain percentage of the preceding quarter’s net sales with minimum annual royalty
payments as follows:
Year ending December 31,
2020:
2021:
2022:
2023:
2024:
2025:

$5,100,000
$4,300,000
$4,300,000
$4,300,000
$4,300,000
$4,300,000

Royalty expense under the License Agreement amounted to $4,500,000 for 2019 and $3,500,000 for 2018 and is
reported in selling expense on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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STOCK OPTION PLANS
2019 Stock Option Plan

On July 9, 2019, the Company established the 2019 Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) for officers and certain
full-time and part-time employees of the Company. Non-employee directors of the Company are not entitled to participate
under this plan. The Option Plan provides for 4,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of stock options
granted under the plan. Under this plan, stock options are granted at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors at an option price not less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. The options are exercisable
in accordance with terms specified by the Compensation Committee not to exceed ten years from the date of grant. Option
activity under this plan follows.

Number of
shares

Weighted
average exercise

Weighted
Average

price

Outstanding as of January 1, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019

––
820,000
––
820,000

$

––

Options exercisable at December 31,
2019

Remaining
Contractual Life

$

––
0.83
––
0.83

––

2.68

$

––

––

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $0.40 in 2019. The aggregate intrinsic value of
options outstanding was approximately $0.3 million at December 31, 2019. The aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options
was approximately $0 at December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019 there remained 3,180,000 options available to be
issued under the 2019 Stock Option Plan.
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2019 Director Stock Option Plan
On July 9, 2019 the Company established the 2019 Director Stock Option Plan (the "Directors Plan"). The Directors
Plan was established for all Directors of the Company except for any Director who is a full-time employee or full-time officer
of the Company. The option price is the fair market value of the common stock on the date the option is granted. There are
1,000,000 shares authorized for issuance under the Directors Plan. Each option expires three years from the grant date. Option
activity under this plan follows.

Number of
shares

Weighted
average exercise
price

Outstanding as of January 1, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019

––
45,000
––
45,000

$

Options exercisable at December 31,
2019

45,000

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

$

––
0.97
––
0.97

––

2.50

$

0.97

2.50

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $0.53 in 2019. The aggregate intrinsic value of
options outstanding was approximately $9.5 thousand at December 31, 2019. The aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable
options was approximately $9.5 thousand at December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019 there remained 955,000 options
available to be issued under the 2019 Director Stock Option Plan.
2009 Stock Option Plan
On December 10, 2009, the Company established the 2009 Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) for officers and
certain full-time and part-time employees of the Company. Non-employee directors of the Company are not entitled to
participate under this plan. The Option Plan provides for 5,500,000 shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of
stock options granted under the plan. Under this plan, stock options are granted at the discretion of the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors at an option price not less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. The
options are exercisable in accordance with terms specified by the Compensation Committee not to exceed ten years from the
date of grant. Option activity under this plan follows.

Number of
shares

Weighted
average exercise
price

Outstanding as of January 1, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Expired/Forfeited
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Expired/Forfeited
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019

1,459,494
899,500
(740,641)
(48,750)
1,569,603
90,000
(199,792)
(150,000)
1,309,811

$

Options exercisable at December 31,
2019

859,936

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

1.59

$

0.45
2.11
0.34
--1.41
0.95
0.24
--1.45

$

1.22

1.04

2.13

1.28
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The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $0.46 in 2019. The weighted average grant date
fair value of options granted was $0.92 in 2018. The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding was approximately $369
thousand at December 31, 2019 and approximately $730 thousand at December 31, 2018. The aggregate intrinsic value of
exercisable options was approximately $353 thousand at December 31, 2019 and $730 thousand at December 31, 2018. As of
December 31, 2019, there remained no options available to be issued under the 2009 Stock Option Plan. The 2009 Stock Option
Plan terminated on December 1, 2019. The 2019 Stock Option Plan was approved on July 9, 2019 and replaced the 2009 Stock
Option Plan.

2009 Director Stock Option Plan
On December 10, 2009 the Company established the 2009 Director Stock Option Plan (the "Directors Plan"). The
Directors Plan was established for all Directors of the Company except for any Director who is a full-time employee or fulltime officer of the Company. The option price is the fair market value of the common stock on the date the option is granted.
There are 700,000 shares authorized for issuance under the Directors Plan. Each option expires five years from the grant date.
Option activity under this plan follows.

Number of
shares

Outstanding as of January 1, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Outstanding as of December 31, 2018
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019

Options exercisable at December 31,
2019

330,000
110,000
(97,500)
342,500
97,500
(60,000)
(80,000)
300,000

300,000

Weighted
average exercise
price

$

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

1.32
2.51
1.29
1.71
1.09
0.23

2.80

$

1.63

2.00

$

1.63

2.00

2.52

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted was $0.57 in 2019 and $1.28 in 2018. The aggregate
intrinsic value of options outstanding was approximately $41 thousand at December 31, 2019 and $119 thousand at December
31, 2018. The aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options was approximately $41 thousand at December 31, 2019 and
$119 thousand at December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2019, there remained no options available to be issued under the
2009 Director Stock Option Plan. The 2009 Director Stock Option Plan terminated on December 1, 2019. The 2019 Director
Stock Option Plan was approved on July 9, 2019 and replaced the 2009 Director Stock Option Plan.
The Black-Scholes range of assumptions for the all Stock Option Plans is shown below:
2019

2018

Assumptions:
Expected life

2.75 (yrs) - 3.5 (yrs)

2.75 (yrs) - 3.5 (yrs)

Expected volatility

77.74% - 87.40%

71.97% - 88.86%

Risk-free interest rate

1.34% - 2.69%

2.08% - 2.74%

Expected dividend yield

0.00%

0.00%

The unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested stock awards was approximately $258 thousand as
of December 31, 2019. This amount will be recognized through the fourth quarter of 2021. The Company has a commitment to grant
variable amount of stock options by October 4, 2020 driven by $100,000 of fair value of stock option expense.
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INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense consists of:
Current

Year Ended December 31, 2018:
U.S. federal
State and local
Foreign

$

$
Year Ended December 31, 2019:
U.S. federal
State and local
Foreign

$

$

Deferred

––
14,305
11,493
25,798

$

––
10,792
14,073
24,865

$

$

$

Total

––
––
––
––

$

––
––
––
––

$

$

$

––
14,305
11,493
25,798
––
10,792
14,073
24,865
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A reconciliation of the expected income tax expense or benefit to actual follows:
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2018

Computed "expected" US tax (benefit) at Federal statutory rate
Change resulting from:
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit
Valuation allowance
Non––deductible items

$

2019

(12,594) $

(685,652)

4,927
115,960
701

(102,770)
411,810
87,998

Expired Federal net operating loss
Federal and state rate changes
State net operating loss true up and rate change
Income tax expense

$

90,375
(173,571)
––
25,798 $

218,376
95,103
––
24,865

Temporary differences at December 31 follow:
2018

Deferred income tax assets:
Inventories
Accounts receivable
Accrued expenses
Net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards
Plant and equipment
Stock compensation
Lease accounting
Other – interest expense
Total deferred income tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

2019

$

129,349 $
145,884
137,522
253,559
72,749
80,068
13,020,122
13,276,081
13,615
6,014
112,664
123,841
––
26,515
––
12,385
13,486,022
13,924,347
(13,486,022) (13,924,347)
$
–– $
––

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) that significantly revised the U.S. tax code effective January 1, 2018 by, among other things,
lowering the corporate income tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to a flat 21%. Other than the reduction in statutory rate,
the Company does not anticipate the regulations will have a material impact on income taxes in future years.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $56,267,000
which are available to offset future taxable income. They are due to expire in varying amounts from 2020 to 2038. Federal net
operating losses occurring after December 31, 2017, of approximated $3,138,000 may be carried forward indefinitely. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company had state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $11,350,000 which are available
to offset future taxable income. They are due to expire in varying amounts from 2031 through 2038. A valuation allowance has
been established for the full amount of deferred income tax assets as management has concluded that it is more-likely than-not
that the benefits from such assets will not be realized.
The Company reviews annually the guidance for the financial statement recognition, measurement and disclosure of
uncertain tax positions recognized in the financial statements. Tax positions must meet a "more-likely-than-not" recognition
threshold. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company did not have any uncertain tax positions. No interest and penalties
related to uncertain tax positions were accrued at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
The Company files income tax returns in the United States and Mexico. Tax years subsequent to 2015 remain subject
to examination for both US federal and state tax reporting purposes. Tax years subsequent to 2013 remain subject to
examination for Mexico tax reporting purposes. The foreign income tax reported represents tax on operations for the Company
that is located in a special economic zone in Mexico. Other than the Mexico facility, the Company has no operations in a
foreign location.
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SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS

The Company sells its products primarily through high-volume distributors and retailers, internet service providers,
telephone service providers, value-added resellers, PC system integrators, and OEMs. The Company supports its major
accounts in their efforts to discern strategic directions in
the market, to maintain appropriate inventory levels, and to
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offer a balanced selection of attractive products.
Relatively few companies account for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. In 2019 two companies
accounted for 10% or greater individually, and 84% in the aggregate of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2019
three companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater individually accounted for a combined 84% of the
Company’s accounts receivable. In 2018 two companies accounted for 10% or greater individually, and 78% in the aggregate

of the Company’s total net sales. At December 31, 2018, four companies with an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater
individually accounted for a combined 79% of the Company’s accounts receivable.
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SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company's operations are classified as one reportable segment. Substantially all of the Company's operations and
long-lived assets reside primarily in the North America. Net sales information follows:

FY 2019
North America
Outside North America
Total
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$ 36,741,262
873,194
$ 37,614,456

Percent
97.7%
2.3%
100.0%

FY 2018
$ 31,687,051
636,432
$ 32,323,483

Percent
98.0%
2.0%
100.0%

DEPENDENCE ON KEY SUPPLIERS

The Company participates in the PC peripherals industry, which is characterized by aggressive pricing practices,
continually changing customer demand patterns and rapid technological developments. The Company's operating results could
be adversely affected should the Company be unable to successfully anticipate customer demand accurately; manage its product
transitions, inventory levels and manufacturing process efficiently; distribute its products quickly in response to customer
demand; differentiate its products from those of its competitors or compete successfully in the markets for its new products.
The Company depends on many third-party suppliers for key components contained in its product offerings. For some
of these components, the Company may only use a single source supplier, in part due to the lack of alternative sources of
supply. In 2019, the Company had one supplier that provided 96.3% of the Company's purchased inventory. In 2018, the
Company had one supplier that provided 98.7% of the Company's purchased inventory.
(12)

RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company has a 401(k) retirement savings plan for employees. Under the plan, the Company matches 25% of an
employee's contribution, up to a maximum of $350 per employee per year. Company matching contributions charged to expense
in 2018 and 2019 were $6,848 and $5,405, respectively.
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BANK CREDIT LINE

On December 18, 2012, the Company entered into a Financing Agreement with Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. (the
“Financing Agreement”). The Financing Agreement provided for up to $1.75 million of revolving credit, subject to a borrowing
base formula and other terms and conditions as specified in the Financing Agreement. The Financing Agreement continued
until November 30, 2014 and automatically renews from year to year thereafter, unless sooner terminated by either party as
specified in the Financing Agreement. The Lender shall have the right to terminate the Financing Agreement at any time by
giving the Company sixty days’ prior written notice. Borrowings are secured by all of the Company assets including intellectual
property. The Loan Agreement contained several covenants, including a requirement that the Company maintain tangible net
worth of not less than $2.5 million and working capital of not less than $2.5 million.
On March 25, 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to the Financing Agreement (the “Amendment”) with
an effective date of January 1, 2013. The Amendment clarified the definition of current assets in the Financing Agreement,
reduced the size of the revolving credit line to $1.25 million, and revised the financial covenants so that Zoom is required to
maintain tangible net worth of not less than $2.0 million and
working capital of not less than $1.75 million.
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On October 29, 2015, the Company entered into a second amendment to the Financing Agreement (the “Second
Amendment”). Retroactive to October 1, 2015, the Second Amendment eliminated $2,500 in monthly charges for the Financing
Agreement. Effective December 1, 2015, the Second Amendment reduces the effective rate of interest to 2.25% plus an amount
equal to the higher of prime rate or 3.25%.

On July 19, 2016, the Company entered into a third amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment
increased the size of the revolving credit line to $2.5 million effective as of date of the amendment.
On September 1, 2016, the Company entered into a fourth amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment
increased the size of the revolving credit line to $3.0 million effective with the date of this amendment.
On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a fifth amendment to the Financing Agreement. The Amendment
reduced the effective interest rate by 1 percentage point and reduced the annual facility fee by 0.25 percent.
The Company is required to calculate its covenant compliance on a quarterly basis and as of December 31, 2019, the
Company was in compliance with both its working capital and tangible net worth covenants. At December 31, 2019, the
Company’s tangible net worth was approximately $5.7 million, while the Company’s working capital was approximately $5.4
million. Loan availability is based on certain eligible receivables. Loan availability was approximately $3 million as of
December 31, 2019.
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PRIVATE PLACEMENT

On May 3, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with certain accredited investors, including
certain independent investment funds, members of the Company’s management and its Board of Directors, and certain cofounders of the Company, in a private placement pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of 4,545,455 shares of
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, at a purchase price of $1.10 per share. In connection with the Stock Purchase
Agreement the Company incurred $57,391 of expenses which has been recorded as a reduction of additional paid in capital as
presented in the condensed consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity. The net proceeds to the Company at the closing of
the private placement were $4.94 million.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

On July 25, 2019, the Company entered into a Master Partnership Agreement with Minim Inc. (“Minim”), together
with a related Statement of Work, License, Collaborative Agreement, Software/Service Availability Agreement and
Software/Service Support Level Agreement (collectively, the “Partnership Agreement”). Under the Partnership Agreement,
the Company will integrate Minim software and services into certain hardware products distributed by the Company, and
Minim will be entitled to certain fees and a portion of revenue received from the end users of such services and software. The
Company and Minim entered into an additional Statement of Work on December 31, 2019 providing for further integration of
Minim services, with a monthly minimum payment of $5,000 payable by the Company to Minim starting in January 2020 for
a period of thirty-six months and a requirement for Minim to purchase at least $90,000 of the Company’s hardware by
December 2022.
Jeremy Hitchcock, who serves as Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, is the co-founder, Chief Executive
Officer and a stockholder of Minim. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, no payments were made by either the
Company or Minim under the Partnership Agreement other than nominal payments, and no services were provided or expenses
incurred in connection with the Partnership Agreement. As of December 31, 2019, no amounts were due from or to the
Company under the Partnership Agreement.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Due to requirements of the United States Department of Homeland Security, and resulting from the continued 25%
tariff on imports from China, the Company had to commit $400 thousand on a letter of credit in January, 2020 and another
$250 thousand in April, 2020 to secure a bond on the import of these products. These funds will be reported as restricted cash,
consistent with accounting reporting guidance.
COVID-19 pandemic has had an impact on all areas of our company. Production has experienced delays, supply chain
is disrupted, employees are working remotely. We are continuing operations, we have not laid off any employees, and we are
taking steps necessary to operate under the restrictions currently placed on people and businesses. At this point, the extent to
which COVID-19 may impact our financial condition or results of operations is uncertain.
In February 2020 Zoom entered into a manufacture supply agreement with Foxconn. Agreement outlines general
manufacturing procedures, with specific terms as the product quantity, price, delivery per purchase requisition. The term of the
agreement is three years, with one-year automatic renewals, subject to three-month cancellation notice.

In March 2020 Zoom entered into an amendment to the License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC (the “2020
Amendment”). The 2020 Amendment expands Zoom’s exclusive license to use the Motorola trademark to a wide range of
authorized channels worldwide, including Service Provider Channels. The License Agreement, as amended, also extended the
term through December 31, 2025.
In March 2020 Zoom entered into a License Agreement with Motorola Mobility LLC to sell consumer grade home
security and monitoring products and provide related services (the “2020 License Agreement”).
In connection with the 2020 License Agreement, the Company has committed to reserve a certain percentage of
wholesale prices for use in advertising, merchandising and promotion of the related products. Additionally, the Company is
required to make quarterly royalty payments equal to a certain percentage of the preceding quarter’s net sales with minimum
annual royalty payments as follows:
Year ending December 31,
2021:
2022:
2023:
2024:
2025:

$2,050,000
$2,300,000
$2,550,000
$2,800,000
$2,800,000

Other than above, Management of the F-18 Company has reviewed subsequent events from December 31,
2019 through the date of filing and has concluded that there were no other subsequent events requiring adjustment to or
disclosure in these consolidated financial statements.

EXHIBIT 4.1
ZOOM TELEPHONICS, INC.
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED UNDER
SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
The following description of registered securities of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (“us,” “our,” “we” or the “Company”) is intended as a
summary only and therefore is not a complete description. This description is based upon, and is qualified by reference to, our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, our bylaws and applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law
(the “DGCL”). You should read our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, and bylaws, which are incorporated
by reference as Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.5 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.1 is a part, for the provisions
that are important to you.
General
We are authorized under Delaware law to issue up to 40,000,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value per share, and 2,000,000 shares
of preferred stock, $.001 par value per share.
Common Stock
Voting Rights. Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held on all matters submitted to a
vote of the stockholders, including the election of directors. Except as otherwise provided by law or our amended and restated certificate
of incorporation or bylaws, all matters other than the election of directors submitted to the stockholders at any meeting shall be decided
by the affirmative vote of a majority of votes properly cast upon such question. Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast at
the meeting. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws do not provide for cumulative voting rights. Because of
this, the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of directors can elect all of the directors
standing for election, if they should so choose.
Dividends. Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any then outstanding preferred stock, the holders of our outstanding shares
of common stock are entitled to receive dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by our board of directors out of legally
available funds. At present, we have no plans to issue dividends. See the section titled “Dividend Policy”.
Liquidation. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of common stock will be entitled to share ratably in the
net assets legally available for distribution to stockholders after the payment of all of our debts and other liabilities, subject to the
satisfaction of any liquidation preference granted to the holders of any outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Other Rights and Preferences. Holders of our common stock have no preemptive, conversion or subscription rights, and there are no
redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to our common stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of common
stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of our preferred stock that we
may designate and issue in the future.
Fully Paid and Nonassessable. All of our outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and nonassessable.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provide that our board of directors is authorized to issue preferred
stock in one or more series, to establish the number of shares to be included in each such series, to establish the voting powers (if any)
of the shares to be included in such series, and to fix the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other
special rights of the shares of each such series and to fix the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including without
limitation thereof, dividend rights, special voting rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences. The
issuance of preferred stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company without
further action by the stockholders and may adversely affect the voting and other rights of the holders of common stock. The issuance
of preferred stock with voting and conversion rights may adversely affect the voting power of the holders of common stock, including
the loss of voting control to others.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
Some provisions of Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that could
make the following transactions more difficult: an acquisition of us by means of a tender offer; an acquisition of us by means of a proxy
contest or otherwise; or the removal of our incumbent officers and directors. It is possible that these provisions could make it more
difficult to accomplish or could deter transactions that stockholders may otherwise consider to be in their best interest or in our best
interests, including transactions which provide for payment of a premium over the market price for our shares.
These provisions, summarized below, are intended to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These
provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with our board of directors. We
believe that the benefits of the increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited
proposal to acquire or restructure us outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging these proposals because negotiation of these proposals
could result in an improvement of their terms.
Undesignated Preferred Stock. The ability of our board of directors, without action by the stockholders, to issue up to 2,000,000 shares
of undesignated preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences as designated by our board of directors could impede the
success of any attempt to change control of us. These and other provisions may have the effect of deferring hostile takeovers or delaying
changes in control or management of our company.
Stockholder Meetings. Our bylaws provide that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our president or by our board
of directors.
Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals. Our bylaws establish advance notice procedures
with respect to the nomination of candidates for election as directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of the board of
directors.
Elimination of Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Our bylaws eliminate the right of stockholders to act by written consent without
a meeting.
Removal of Directors. Our bylaws provide that members of our board of directors may only be removed from office (i) with or without
cause at any annual or special meeting of stockholders by a vote of a majority of the stockholders entitled to vote in the election of
directors, or (ii) for cause by a vote of a majority of the directors then in office, provided that a director may be removed for cause only
after reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard before the body proposing to remove such director.
Stockholders Not Entitled to Cumulative Voting. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not permit stockholders to
cumulate their votes in the election of directors. Accordingly, the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock
entitled to vote in any election of directors can elect all of the directors standing for election, if they choose.
Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute. We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits persons
deemed to be “interested stockholders” from engaging in a “business combination” with a publicly held Delaware corporation for three
years following the date these persons become interested stockholders unless the business combination is, or the transaction in which
the person became an interested stockholder was, approved in a prescribed manner or another prescribed exception applies. Generally,
an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years prior to the determination
of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of a corporation’s voting stock. Generally, a “business combination” includes a
merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. The existence of this
provision may have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance by the board of directors.
The provisions of Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws could have the effect of
discouraging others from attempting hostile takeovers and, as a consequence, they may also inhibit temporary fluctuations in the market
price of our common stock that often result from actual or rumored hostile takeover attempts. These provisions may also have the effect
of preventing changes in the composition of our board and management. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult
to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
Transfer and Warrant Agent and Registrar
The transfer and warrant agent and registrar for our common stock and registered warrants is Computershare.
Listing
Our shares of common are quoted on the OTCQB Venture Market under the symbol “ZMTP.”

EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES

MTRLC LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Zoom Telephonics, Inc., is a limited liability company organized in Delaware
that focuses on the sale of our Motorola brand products.

EXHIBIT 23.1
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM'S CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. on Form S-8 [File Nos. 333209807 and 333-173143] of our report dated April 14, 2020 with respect to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of
Zoom Telephonics, Inc. as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2019,
which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2019.
/s/ Marcum LLP

Boston, MA
April 14, 2020

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Joseph L. Wytanis, President and Chief Executive Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc., certify that:
1) I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc.;
2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;
3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;
4) As the registrant's certifying officer, I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based
on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5) As the registrant's certifying officer, I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: April 14, 2020

By: /s/ JOSEPH L. WYTANIS
Joseph L. Wytanis
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton, Chief Financial Officer of Zoom Telephonics, Inc., certify that:
1) I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc.;
2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;
3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;
4) As the registrant's certifying officer, I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based
on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5) As the registrant's certifying officer, I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: April 14, 2020

By: /s/ JACQUELYN BARRY HAMILTON
Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title
18, United States Code).
In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31,
2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Joseph L.
Wytanis, President and Chief Executive Officer, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: April 14, 2020

By: /s/ JOSEPH L. WYTANIS
Joseph L. Wytanis
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the
extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title
18, United States Code).
In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Zoom Telephonics, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31,
2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Jacquelyn Barry
Hamilton, Chief Financial Officer, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: April 14, 2020

By: /s/ JACQUELYN BARRY HAMILTON
Jacquelyn Barry Hamilton
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the
extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

